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Asim Mammadli,
idars Heyatinin Sadri

Asim Mammadli,
Chairman of the Executive Board

Hormatli seshmdarlar, musteriler ve terafdaglar,

Bankimizin 2010-cu il tizre maliyye hesabatini diggstinize
gatdinram. Faaliyyatinin ik beg ilini geride qoyan Xalg Bank,
oten il inkisafinin yeni marhalasine gadam goydu. owalki
illerda oldugu kimi, altinci il de Bankimizin tarixinds bir gox
nailiyyatlerle yadda qgaldi. Biz 6lkanin maliyye sektorundaki
maovagelarimizi daha da mohkemlandirdik, bank faaliyyatinin
buttin istigamatlarinds 6namili ve yukssk naticsler alde

etdik. 2010-cu ilde Xalg Bank asas maliyys gostericileri tzre
Azarbaycan bank sisteminin lider banklar grupunda gerarlasdr.

Oten il ister Xalg Bank, isterse ds bank bazarinin diger
istirakgilarn ugun en murakksb dovrlerdan biri oldu. Bir gox
maliyya ve investisiya nahanglarinin bels tab gatirmayib teslim
oldugu dunya igtisadi bohraninin garginliyi hale de davam
etmakdas idi. Lakin 2010-cu ilde Azarbaycan igtisadiyyatinda
geyds alinan dinamik inkisaf proseslari maliyya qurumlarinin, ilk
novbads da Olka banklarinin sabit inkisafina serait yaratmisdir.
Olke Prezidenti cenab llnam Sliyevin yiritdiyl igtisadi
siyasatin strateji istigamatleri olan regionlarin tarazli inkisafl,
igtisadiyyatin saxalendiriimasi, alverigli biznes ve investisiya

Dear shareholders, customers and partners,

I am pleased to present to your attention Xalg Bank’s annual
report for 2010. Having completed five years of operations, the
Bank raised its performance to a new stage of development
over the past year. As in previous years, our sixth will go down
in the Bank’s history as one of many achievements. We have
consolidated our position in the country’s financial sector and
achieved significant positive results in all areas of banking
activity. In 2010, Xalg Bank established itself among the
leading banks in Azerbaijan on the principal financial criteria.

Last year was a most challenging period for all players in the
banking sector. The strains created by the global financial
crisis, too severe for even some of the world’s financial

and investment giants, were still evident. However, the
dynamism of the Azerbaijani economy in 2010 provided a
basis for continued development by its financial structures,
especially banks. This is the result of President llham Aliyev's
economic strategy: the successful promotion of balanced
regional development, diversification of the economy;, the
establishment of an auspicious business and investment
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2010-cu ilde Xalg Bank asas maliyye gostericileri Uzre Azerbaycan bank sisteminin
lider banklar grupunda gararlasal.

In 2010, Xalg Bank established itself among the leading banks in Azerbaijan

on the principal financial criteria.

muhtinin formalasdinimasi, shalinin maddi rifahinin daha da
yuksaldilmasi tedbirlarinin son illerda ugurla hayata kegirilmasi
0z bsahrasini vermakdadir.

Dunyanin bir gox Olkslarinde musahids olunan durgunlug ve
hetta igtisadi gerilome seraitinde Azerbaycanda 6ten il UDM
5% artib. Mulayim pul-kredit siyasati inflyasiyani MDB va bir cox
Avropa dovlstlerindan de asagi seviyyade — 5,7% saviyyasindo
saxlamaga imkan verib.

Duzdur, béhranin manfi tasiri kimi 6tan il zerarle isloyan
banklarin sayinin artmasi, kredit bazarinda aktivliyin ewalki
illera nisbaten zaiflamasi ve umumi manfaatliliyin azalmasi bas
verdi. Lakin butun bunlara regman, yekun gostericiler de stbut
edir ki, igtisadiyyatin aparici quwasi olan bank sektorunun
maliyys dayanighigi temin edilib. Xarici bazarlarda davam edan
likvidlik bohranina baxmayaraq, Azerbaycan banklar 2010-cu
ilde hatta mulayim inkisaf nimayis etdirib. Statistikaya asasen,
banklarin aktivieri 14%, kreditlar 9%, Umumi depozitler 17%, o
cuimladen shalinin esmanatlari 30% artib. Iinkisafa tekan veran
amillerdan biri da Markazi Bankin pul-kredit siyasatinds hayata

environment, and the further advancement of people’s
material well-being.

While many countries experience economic stagnation or
reverse, last year Azerbaijan’s GDP rose 5%. Financial and
crediting prudence helped to hold inflation at 5.7% — a lower
level than in the CIS and many European countries.

Itis true that last year the negative impact of the crisis saw an
increase in the number of banks working at a loss, a slowing
of activity in lending market compared to previous years and a
general reduction in profitability. Nevertheless, the year’s final
figures demonstrate that the banking sector, the backbone

of the economy, maintained financial resilience. Despite the
liquidity crisis in foreign markets, Azerbaijani banks achieved
steady developmentin 2010. The statistics show that bank
assets increased 14%, loans were up 9%, total deposits

17% and individual customer deposits rose 30%. One factor
stimulating this progress was the softening of the Central
Bank’s finance-loans policy, resulting in a record low level
discount rate — a cut of 2%. Thus financial stability and liquidity
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kegirdiyi yumsalma ve bunun naticasi kimi ucot daracasinin
rekord asagi saviyyaya — 2%-a salmasi oldu. Naticads, bank
sisteminin maliyya sabitliyi va likvidliyi gorunub saxlanildi.
Markazi Bank il arzinda 0z siyassatine gevik korreksiyalar
etmakle makroigtisadi ve maliyys sabitliyinin gorunmasina,
habels igtisadi artima zaruri destek verdi.

Mamnunlugla geyd etmaliyam ki, dunyada bas veran gargin
igtisadi proseslara ragman, dlkamizin alverigli biznes muhiti

va secilmis dogru strategiya Bankimiza ili yuksak gostericilerla
baga vurmaga imkan verdi. llin yekunlari Xalg Bank kollektivinin
yuksak pesokarliginin va Bankin movgelerinin sarsiimazligini bir
daha numayis etdirdi.

Oten il Bankimiz mitleg gdstericide xalis menfaatin hacmina
g6ra milli bank bazarinda Gguncu yeri tutdu. Bu iss aktiv
amaliyyatlarin hacminin artmasi, musterilerin vasaitlerinin
Banka calb olunmasi istigamatinds gorulan kompleks
todbirler naticesinde mumkin oldu. il erzinds ister perakends,
isterse da korporativ musterilarimizin sayini artira bildik.
Musterilare gosterilen xidmatlerin keyfiyyatinin artinimasina,
tekmillasdiriimasina va innovativ texnologiyalarin tatbigine
xususi digget yetirildi. Bununla yanasi dunya ve yerli maliyyo
bazarlarinin sart va talableri, bargarar olmus regabat seraiti,
bazardaki htiquai va fiziki sexslarin talebatini nezars alarag,
beynalxalq tecribays asaslanarag mutemadi olarag mahsul
cesidi yenilandi ve geniglendirildi.

Oten il respublikanin sehar va regional merkezlerine dogru
genislanmayimiz davam etdi, Xagmaz vo Sabranda iki yeni
filial istifadeys verildi. Igtisadiyyatin maliyye xidmatlerine
telebatinin tamin edilmasi, ahalinin ve korporativ mustarilarin
teklif etdiyimiz buttin bank mahsul ve xidmatlerine ¢ixis
imkanlarinin artirimasi magsadile Bankimiz filial sebsakasini
daim geniglandiriimakdadir. Qabaqgcil parakends bankgilig
siyasatinin asaslarindan birini tagkil edan filial sebakasinin
genislendiriimasi ile strategiyamizin asas magsadi -
respublikanin buttn bolgslerini shate etmakle mustarilara
daha yaxin olmagdan ibarstdir.

Bas ofis ve regional filiallar da daxil olmadgla, il erzinds Bankin
butlin strukturlarinda vahid informasiya texnologiyalari tatbig
edilib, 6dema ve pulkdcurma sistemlari Uzre mahsullar
yenilanib, effektiv idaragilik prinsiplarinin tatbigi temin

olunub. Sadaladigim taedbirler 6z névbasinds ddviatin

hayata kegirdiyi sosial va igtisadi xarakterli programlarin
icrasinda aktiv igtirakimizi temin edib. Artiq bir negs ildir Xalq
Bank Sahibkarliga Komak Milli Fondunun ve Azerbaycan
ipoteka Fondunun an feal mivakkil bank tagkilatlarindandir,
Bankimiz 6zal sektorun, o cumladan kigik ve orta sahibkarligin
maliyyalasdiriimasi istigamatinda ugurla faaliyyat gosterir.

was preserved in the banking sector. The Central Bank's
flexible policy adjustments over the year underpinned macro-
economic and financial stability, as well as economic growth.

In view of the testing global economic circumstances, | take
great pleasure in pointing to the Bank’s excellent year-end
returns; the product of the favourable business environment
in Azerbaijan and astute choice of strategy. The results testify
once more to the professionalism of the Xalg Bank team and
the solidity of the Bank’s foundations.

In absolute terms, Xalg Bank returned the third highest figure
for pure profit in the country’s banking sector. This was made
possible by a complex of measures taken to raise performance
and attract resources. We increased the numbers of both retall
and corporate clients over the year. There was particular focus
on developing the quality of service to clients, including the
application of innovative technology. The range of products
offered was constantly renewed in light of international
experience and expanded in response to conditions, demand
and competition in national and international markets, as well
as the requirements of business and individual clients.

Last year our expansion into regional centres continued and
two new branches, in Khachmaz and Shabran, were brought
into operation. The Bank'’s network of branches is constantly
being extended to meet demand for financial services and

to improve access to all our products and services for both
individual and corporate clients. Network expansion lies at the
heart of leading retail banking strategy, and aims to cover all
regions for greater client convenience.

Last year IT systems were standardised across head office and
branches, payment and money transfer systems were updated
and effective administrative principles were maintained in all
structures of Xalg Bank. The developments | have mentioned
have also supported our involvement in social and economic
programmes carried out by the government. Xalg Bank has
for several years been one of the most active participants in
the National Foundation to Support Entrepreneurship and the
Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund. The Bank contributes effectively
to the financing of the private sector, including small and
medium-size businesses.

In 2010 Xalg Bank launched National Heritage - the first

socio cultural project. As its name suggests, the Bank seeks
strategic involvement in many important facets of public life.
The purpose of this new project is to support and introduce the
works of prominent Azerbaijani artists and academics to the
world as examples of our principles and culture.

Also last year, particular attention was given to creating



Dunyanin bir cox olkalerinde musahide olunan durgunlug ve hatta igtisadi
gerilema seraitinde Azerbaycanda 6ten il UDM 5%artib.

While many countries experience economic stagnation or reverse, last year
Azerbaijan’s GDP rose 5%.
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2010-cu ilde “Xalg ©mansti” layihasina baslamagla Xalg
Bank sosial-madani istigamatda fealiyystine de start verdi.
Qeyd etmak istayirem ki, adina uygun olarag Bankimiz
xalgimizin hayatinda bas veran bir cox 6namli proseslorda
yaxindan igtirak etmayi strateji magsedlerinden hesab edir.
Oten il bagladigimiz yeni layihenin magsadi Azerbaycan
xalginin gorkemli senat va elm xadimlarinin yaratdiglarini
manavi dayarlarimizin nimunaleri kimi destaklemak va dunya
ictimaiyyatine tanitmaaqdir.

Bankimizin an dayarli vasaiti kimi giymetlendirdiyimiz
amakdaglanmiz ugun optimal serait yaradilmasina da 6ten

il xususi digget vetirilib. Xalg Bankin dayarlarinin butdvitkda
vahid komandanin va ayriligda kollektivin har bir Uzvunun
dayarina gevrilmasi istigamatinda isler aparilib, vahid korporativ
madaniyyatin formalagmasina nail olunub.

Otenilki nailiyyatlerimizin esasinda pesekar komanda,
bank biznesinin an gabagcil texnologiyalarnin tatbigi va
yenilikgiliyimiz, elaca da, sehmdarlarmizin, mustari vo
terefdaslarimizin etimadi dayanrr.

Sozsuz ki, 2010-cu ilde slda olunan nailiyyatler 2011-ciilin
dinamik inkisafinin temalidir. Durmadan artan regabsti ve
bohrandan sonraki inkisafin vacibliyini nezers alarag Xalg
Bank 2011-ci ilde de beynalxalqg bankgilig standartlarina
uygun genis spektrda bank xidmatlari toklif etmakde davam
edaceak. Maliyys institutlar ils slagalarin mohkemlandiriimasine
diggst artirlacaq, yerli va beynalxalq terafdaslarin investisiya
layihalerinda istirak etmakle Bankimiz 6z faaliyyatini
guclendiracak. Olds etdiyimiz nailiyyatlarle kifaystlonmayib
dinamik inkisafi garsidaki illerde ds ugurla davam etdirmek
ugun Bankin imkanlar daha da artirlacaaq.

Biz Azarbaycanin bank sektorunun galacayini cox nikbin
goOruruk ve eminik ki, Xalg Bank bu sahanin ve umumilikda
maliyya bazarnnin inkisafl prosesinds shamiyyatli yer tutacaq
va awalki dovrlaerds oldugu kimi, garsiya goydugumuz
magqsadlers ¢atacagiqg.

Yekun olarag Xalg Bankin 6lkenin nufuzlu banklarindan

biri olmasina emak serf etmis har bir kass tesekkur etmak
istayiram. Bizimla emakdasliginizin bundan sonra da ugurla
davam edacayine aminam.

favourable conditions for our staff, the Bank’s most valuable
resource. We worked individually with every member of staff
towards establishing a team ethic and corporate culture for
Xalg Bank.

Professional teamwork, the application of the most advanced
banking technology and a culture of innovation, as well as the
confidence of our shareholders, clients and partners, stand
behind our achievements of the past year.

Of course the advances made in 2010 provide the basis

for dynamic developmentin 2011. In view of intensifying
competition and the necessity for post-crisis progress, in
2011 Xalg Bank will continue to offer an extensive range of
banking services on international standards. We will reinforce
the Bank's relations with financial institutions and enhance
its work by collaborating with local and international partners
on investment projects. We will not rest on the gains we have
made and the Bank’s potential will be increased to ensure
successful continuation of its dynamic development in the
years to come.

We are very optimistic about the future of the banking sector
in Azerbaijan and we are sure that Xalg Bank will play an
important role in its development as well as in the financial
market as a whole and we will achieve the goals we have set
for ourselves, as we have in earlier years.

In conclusion, I would like to thank everyone who has worked
to make Xalg Bank one of the most influential banks in the
country. I am sure that our joint work will continue to be as
successful.

Hormatle,
Asim Maemmeadli

With best regards,
Asim Mammadli




Xarici bazarlarda davam edan likvidlik bOhranina baxmayaraq, Azerbaycan
banklar 2010-cu ilde mulayim inkisaf numayis etdirib.

Despite the liquidity crisis in foreign markets, Azerbaijani banks achieved
steady development in 2010.
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2010—cu ilds

Azorbaycanin igtisadiyyatl ve bank sistemi

Azerbaijan’s economy and banking system in 2010

Makroigtisadi veziyyatin xulasasi

Review of the macroeconomic situation

2010-cu il dinya igtisadiyyatinin global maliyye bohranindan
tadricen gixmaga basladigi dovr kimi yadda galdi. Mahz

Oten il inkisaf etmis dovlstler milli igtisadiyyatin tenazzule
ugramasinin garsisini aldi, inkisafda olan 6lksler iss igtisadi
inkisaf prosesinda hatta musyyan musbat dinamika nimayis
etdirdiler. Beynalxalg Valyuta Fondunun giymatlendirmasina
asasen, 2010-cu ilde dinya igtisadiyyatinda 5% saviyyasinda
global artim geyde alinmisdrr.

2010-cu ilde dinya bazarlarinda cereyan eden ve Azarbaycan
igtisadiyyatl tgtin dnam daglyan hadisalerdan biri xam

neftin giymatinin 2009-cu il nisbatde 28% artmasi oldu.

Bu proseslarin, hamginin avro-dollar mazennasinin geyri-
muayyanliyi ve idxalin bahalagmasi kimi shamiyystli amillerin
fonunda Azerbaycan igtisadiyyatinda sabit artim davam etdi.
Dunya igtisadiyyatina meyllarin guclanmasi, macmu talabin
canlanmasi 0lkada makroigtisadi sabitliyin gorunmasini ve
sosial-igtisadi sahada pozitiv dayisikliklarin davamliigini temin
etdi.

2010-cu ilds olkenin inkisafini xarakterize edan asas

2010 year is remembered as the period when the world
economy gradually began to emerge from the global financial
crisis. Last year highly developed countries prevented

the collapse of their national economies and developing
countries even displayed a certain positive dynamic in the
process of economic advance. According to estimates by the
International Monetary Fund, the world economy recorded
global growth of 5% in 2010.

One development in the world market in 2010, which was
important for the economy of Azerbaijan, was the 28%

growth in the cost of crude oil compared with 2009. Against
this background, as well as uncertainty in the euro-dollar
exchange rate and other significant factors, such as increasing
costs of imports, Azerbaijan’s economy remained stable.
Strengthening tendencies in the world economy and the
overall revival of demand maintained macroeconomic stability
and the positive social and economic changes being made in
the country.

The main macroeconomic indicator characterizing the

2010-CU ILDS AZORBAYCANIN IQTISADIYYATI VO BANK SISTEMI



makroigtisadi gosterici — Umumi Daxili Mahsul istehsall
Azarbaycanda 5% artarag 41,6 mird. man. toskil edib.

Hesabat il arzinds dlkade 27,4 mird.man hacminda sanaye
mehsulu istehsal olunub ki, bu da 2009-un analoji gostericisine
nisbatds 22% goxdur. Butun maliyye menbalerinden asas
kapitala 9,7 mlird. manatdan artiq investisiya yatirilib ki, bu da
ilik mugayisade 21,2% artim demakdir. Olks igtisadiyyatina

14 mlrd. man sermayae yatinlib ve bu gdsterici 2009-cu ile
nisbaten 33% artib. Sarmayalarin 52,4% daxili investisiyalarin
payina dusub.

Tikinti kompleksinda aparlan insaat isleri tgun batun maliyye
manbalarinden 9,7 mird. AZN mablaginds vesaitdan istifada
edilib. Yonaldilmis vasaitlerin 4,7 mird. manati, yaxud 48,6%-i
mahsul istehsali obyektlarinin ingasina sarf olunmus, 75,2%-i
v ya 7,3 mird. manatini daxili vesaitler togkil edib. Il erzinde
respublika Uzro 60 yeni senaye muassisasi istismara verilib vo
daha 80 musssisanin tikintisi davam etdirilib.

2010-cu il arzinds dlkenin tranzit potensiall yaxsilasib,

AZERBAIJAN'S ECONOMY AND BANKING SYSTEM IN 2010

country’s development — Gross Domestic Product in
Azerbaijan — increased by 5% to AZN 41.6 billion in 2010.

The country’s industrial production amounted to AZN 27 .4
billion during the financial year, which was 22% more than

the figure for 2009. More than AZN 9.7 billion of fixed capital
investment was made from all financial sources, annual growth
of 21.2%. AZN 14 billion were invested into the country’s
economy, an increase of 33% compared to 2009 and 52.4%
of this amount was internal investment.

AZN 9.7 billion from all financial sources were used for works
conducted in the construction sector. AZN 4.7 billion, or
48.6%, was invested in the construction of production facilities,
and 75.2%, or AZN 7.3 billion, came from internal sources. 60
new industrial enterprises were put into operation during the
year and the construction of 80 others was ongoing.

The country’s potential as a transit route was improved in
2010; a State Programme on highway reconstruction and the
development of the railway transport system was adopted and

11
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avtomobil magistrallarinin yeniden gqurulmasi, Damir yolu
naqliyyat sisteminin inkisafi izra Dovlst Programi gabul edilib,
yeni Daniz limani kompleksinin tikintisina baslanilib.

Rabite muassisalarinin ahaliys, idare ve tagkilatlara gostardiyi
1,1 mlird. manatliq rabite xidmatinin 70 %-i mobil rabito
provayderlarinin payina dusub.

Hesabat ili arzinds dlkanin xarici ticarst dovriyyasi 28 mird.
ABS doll. taskil edib ki, bu da awvalki ilin analoji gostericisi
ile migayisade 34,1% coxdur. Xarici ticarat dovriyyasinin
strukturunda ixrac 21,3 mird. dollar, idxal 6,6 mird. dollara
baraber olub. lllik migayiseds ticarst dovriyyssi 31%, ixrac
45,1%, idxal ise 7,8%-o artib.

2010-cu ilds 2009-cu ila nisbatan istehlak mallarinin giymatlari
va xidmet tarifleri 5,7%, o cimladan arzag mahsullarinin
giymatlari 7,2% bahalasib.

Olkenin igtisadi ve sosial sahalerinds muzdia igleysnlerin orta
aylig emak haggi 2009-cu il ile muagayisads 9,1% artaraq
325 man. taskil edib. Oten il shalinin gelirlerinin awalki ille
mugayisade adambasina disen mablagi 12% artaraq 2 866
manata gatib.

Regionlarin sosial-igtisadi inkisafi Dovlet Programinin icrasi
coargivasinda shamiyyastli nailiyystler elde olunub. Regionlarda

401 41,6
356
284
187 .
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Son 5l Uzre UDM-nin dinamikasi

GDP dynamics for the last 5 years.

the construction began of a new sea port complex.

70% of the AZN 1.1 billion communication services offered
to the population, institutions and organizations in Azerbaijan
were provided by mobile communication companies.

The country's foreign trade turnover amounted to $28 billion
over the year: 34.1% higher than the figure for the previous
year. Of this foreign trade, exports totalled $21.3 billion and
imports $6.6 billion. Annual trade turnover increased by 31%,
exports rising 45.1% and imports 7.8%.

Compared to 2009, prices of consumer goods and service
tariffs increased by 5.7%; food prices became 7.2% more
expensive.

The average monthly wage of employees in the economic
and social sectors rose to AZN 325, showing 9.1% increase
over the 2009 figure. Last year, the per capita income of
the population increased by 12% over the previous year
and has reached AZN 2,866. Significant achievements
resulted from the implementation of the State Programme
of socio-economic development in the regions. More than
160 industrial, commercial and service facilities were put
into operation in the regions and the construction of more
than 200 other enterprises was continued. The National
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Xarici bazarlarda davam edan likvidlik bohranina baxmayaraq, Azerbaycan
banklarn 2010-cu ilde mulayim inkisaf numayis etdirib.

Despite the liquidity crisis in foreign markets, Azerbaijani banks achieved
steady development in 2010.
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160-dan gox sanaye, ticarat ve xidmat obyekti istismara
verilib, 200-dan gox muassisanin tikintisi davam etdirilib. Bu
muassisalardan 112-da Sahibkarliga Kémak Milli Fondunun
vasaitlarindan istifada edilib va 2010-cu il arzinde Fond
torafindan 1430 regional sarmays layihasine 115 min. man.
hacminds guzastli sertlerle kreditlor aynlib.

Azarbaycan igtisadiyyatinda inkisafin asas amillarindan biri
kimi maliyya sabitliyina yonalmis ve tarazlasdinimis pul-kredit
siyasatini geyd etmak olar. Olkenin dayanigli inkisafina esas
zamanatlerindan hesab olunan strateji valyuta ehtiyatlar ilin
awaline olan gosterici ile migayisade 50% artarag texminan
30 mird. ABS doll. tagkil edib. Bunun 22,767 mird. dollan
Dovlet Neft Fondu, 6,408 mird. dollari ise Azerbaycan Merkazi
Bankinin serencaminda olan valyuta ehtiyatlarinin payina
dusub.

2010-cu ilda isa 2009-cu ille mugayiseds mahsullarin va
shaliys gostarilen pullu xidmatlarin giymat indeksi artib ve
naticads ilin yekun inflyasiyasi 5,7% taskil edib.

Milli valyutanin dayanigh@ini va inflyasiyanin optimal saviyyada
saxlaniimasini temin edan pul-kredit siyaseti 2011-ci ilde da
davam etdirilocak. Markazi Bankin prognozlarina esasen,
2011-ciilde olkeds inflyasiya birregemli seviyyads galacag.
Beynalxalg maliyys institutlarinin ekspertlari tarafinden aparilan
giymatlendirmalare gora, 2011-2012-ci illerde Azerbaycanda
orta illik inflyasiyanin texminan 5-6% saviyysasinds olacagi
prognozlasdinlir.

AZERBAIJAN'S ECONOMY AND BANKING SYSTEM IN 2010

Entrepreneurship Support Fund assisted 112 of these
establishments; during 2010 the Fund issued AZN 115 million
in loans on preferential terms to 1,430 regional investment
projects.

Financial stability and a balanced monetary and credit policy
may be seen as the main factors in the development of

the Azerbaijani economy. The country’s strategic currency
reserves, considered one of the main guarantees of the
country’s sustainable development, increased by 50% from
the beginning of the year to about $30 billion. Of this amount,
$22,767 billion were held by the State Oil Fund and $6,408
billion were in the foreign currency reserves of the Central
Bank of Azerbaijan.

Compared to 2009, the price index for goods and paid
services to the population increased in 2010 and, as a result,
the final figure for inflation was 5.7%.

The monetary and credit policy which maintains the optimum
level of inflation and the sustainability of the national currency
will be continued in 2011. The Central Bank forecasts again
single-digit inflation in 201 1. Experts from international financial
institutions estimate that average annual inflation in Azerbaijan
will remain at approximately 5-6% in the years 2011-2012.
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Bank sektorunun inkisafi

Development of the banking sector

Olkenin dinamik inkisafi bank sektorunun taraggisini tamin
edib. Son bir nega ilin ilk ndvbadas bank sektoru ugun
mursakkab dovr kimi xarakterize olunmasina baxmayaraq,
Azerbaycan banklarinda sabit musbet tendensiyalar

davam edib. Qlobal maliyya bohrani fonunda bank sistemi
xarici hadisalera garsl davamii olduglarini ve ohdaliklarini
vaxtinda ve tam hacmda yerine yetirmak igtidarinda
oldugunu taesdiglemakle mugterilerinin etibarni daha da
mohkamlandiribler. Naticada, 2010-cu ilde bank sektorunun
foaliyyatinin butun asas parametrlari Uzre artim tendensiyasi
davam edib.

Hesabat ilinds Azerbaycanda 1 yeni banka lisenziya verilib,

2 bankin lisenziyasi ise lagv edilib. Naticads, 2011-ciil 1

yanvar tarixina Olkads 45 bank taskilati faaliyyat gostarib ki,
bunlardan da 22-si xarici kapitalli banklar olub. Eyni zamanda,
asasan regionlarda yasayan shalinin bank xidmatlarine ¢ixisini
yaxsilagdirmaq magsadile Markezi Bank terafinden «Azarpogt»
MMC - poct rabitasi milli operatoruna mahdud sayl bank
amealiyyatlar aparmag ugun lisenziya verilib.

il arzinds bank sisteminin macmu aktivleri tagriban 14%
artarag 13,3 mird. manata catib. gtisadiyyatin maliyye
xidmatlarine talebatini temin etmak va ahalinin maliyya
xidmatlerina gixis imkanlarinin artirmag ugun 2010-cu

ilde banklarin filial sebskasinin va struktur bolmalerinin
genislenmasi davam edib. il erzinde dlkeds bank filiallarinin
sayl 644-9, sobalarin sayl 120-ye gatib.

The country’s dynamic development has ensured progress in
the banking sector. Despite the last few years being a difficult
period, especially for the banking sector, banks in Azerbaijan
have continued to enjoy stable positive trends. Against the
background of global financial crisis, confidence in the banking
system has strengthened among clients as banks prove that
they can withstand the pressures of external events and that
they are fully able to fulfil their obligations in timely fashion. As a
result, all the main parameters of the bank sector continued to
grow in 2010.

One new bank was issued with a licence and two banks had
their licences revoked during the financial year. As a result,

on 1 January 2011 there were 45 banking establishments in
the country; 22 of them were banks with foreign capital. At the
same time, in order to improve access to banking services

for people living in the regions, Azerpocht LLC — the national
operator of postal communications - was issued with a licence
by the Central Bank to carry out a limited number of banking
operations.

Total assets in the banking system increased during the year
by about 14%, totalling AZN 13.3 billion. In order to maintain
demand for financial services in the economy and to ease
people’s access to financial services, banks continued to
expand their networks of branches and structure in 2010.
During the year the number of branches in the country rose to
644 and retail outlets increased to 120.

2010-CU ILDS AZORBAYCANIN IQTISADIYYATI VO BANK SISTEMI



Son bir necgea ilin ilk novbada bank sektoru ugun murakksb dovr kimi xarakterize
olunmasina baxmayaraq, Azerbaycan banklarinda sabit musbast tendensiyalar
davam edib.

Despite the last feu years being a difficult period, especially for the banking
sector, banks in Azerbaijan have continued to enjoy stable positive trends.
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Hesabat ilinin yekununda Azerbaycan banklarn 120,0 min.man xails
manfoat alda ediblar.

At the end of the reporting year Azerbaijani banks had made
AZN 120,0 million in pure profit.
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Umumilikde, hesabat ilinin yekununda banklar 120,0 min. man.

xalis manfeat alds edibler va bu zaman 32 bank manfestla,
13 bank zererle igleyib. Banklarin xarici dhdsliklari hesabat
ddvrindn sonuna 2,5 mird. man. taskil edib. 2010-cu il
arzinda bank sisteminin macmu kapitalinin hacmi 8% artaraq
2 mird. manata yaxinlagib. Xarici investorlarin bank sisteminin
kapitalinda istiraki 20% artarag 245 min. man. tagkil edib.

ilin awali ile migayisads banklarin depozit bazasi 17%
artaraqg 5,45 mird. man. tesgkil edib. Eyni zamanda, smanatler
uzrs faiz deracslerinin azaldilmasinin tegvigi siyassti davam
edib. Omanatlerin Sigortalanmasi Fondu 2010-cuil 1 iyun
tarixinden gorunan smanatler tzra illik faiz daracesinin yuxar
haddini 15%-don 12%-dok endirib. Bu gerar emanatlorin faiz
daracesinin azaldiimasina taesir gosterarak kreditlar Uzrs faiz
daracesinin ds agagi meylleanmasins sebab olub.

2009-cu ile nisbaten bank kreditleri 9% artarag 9 mird. manati
otub. Daxili valyuta bazarinda mazenna sabitliyinin gorunub
saxlanmasi milli valyutada olan kreditlerin 2010-cu ilde 20%
artarag cemi kredit portfelinds xtsusi ¢gakisinin 64,3%-a
catmasina ssbab olub.

Bank sahasinde énemli hadiselerden biri Bakida islam inkisaf
Bankinin novbsti, 35-ci illik toplantisinin kegirilmasi olub.
Toplantida 55 Glkeden minlarle numaysnds igtirak edib.

AZERBAIJAN'S ECONOMY AND BANKING SYSTEM IN 2010

Overall, at the end of the year the banks had made AZN
120,0 million in pure profit; 32 banks had made profits and
13 banks had made losses. The banks’ foreign liabilities
amounted to AZN 2.5 billion at the end of the report year. The
volume of capital in the banking system increased by 8% and
approached AZN 2 billion during 2010. The contribution of
foreign investors to capital in the system rose by 20% to AZN
245 million.

Banks’ deposit base increased by 17% compared to the
beginning of the year, to AZN 5.45 billion. At the same time,
the policy of reducing interest rates on deposits continued.
Azerbaijan Deposit Insurance Fund reduced interest rates on
protected deposits from 15% to 12%, as from 1 June 2010.
This resulted in reduction of interest rates on deposit savings
and influenced on loans’ rates which also went down.

Bank loans exceeded AZN 9 billion and compare with 2009
has increased by 9%. Maintaining a stable exchange rate in
the domestic currency market resulted in a 20% increase in
loans in the national currency; they constituted 64.3% of the
total loan portfolio in 2010.

An important event in the banking sector was the 35th annual
meeting of the Islamic Development Bank in Baku. The
meeting was attended by thousands of delegates from 55
countries.
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Xalg Bank:

2010 —cu ilin muhum hadisalari

Xalg Bank: key events of 2010

Fevral — Mart / February — March

Aprel / April

Xalg Bankin “Xagmaz” filiali acild.

‘B&B TV Communication” yayim sirkatinin va Bakcell mobil
operatorunun xidmatlarinin 6danilmasi ugun Xalg Bank
terafinden yaradilan 6demsa sistemi tatbig edildi.

The Khachmaz branch of Xalq Bank was opened.

A payment system was established by Xalg Bank for the

services of the B&B TV Communication Company and Bakcell,

the mobile operator.

May / May

“Xalg Kapital” MMC sirkatinin nizamnama kapitali 210 min.
man. mablagina gader artirildi.

The authorized capital of Xalg Capital LLC was raised to AZN
0,21million.

lyun / June

Xalg Bankin nizamnama kapitall 72,828 min.man. mablagina
gadar artinld.

Xalg Bank “Reuters” beynalxalq informasiya ve diling sistemina
gosuldu.

Xalg Bank Vergiler Nazirliyi ile elektron senad mubadilesi
apariimasi magsadila “TaxBank” sistemina gosuldu.

The authorized capital of Xalg Bank was raised to AZN 72.828
million.

Xalg Bank joined the Reuters international information and
trading system.

Xalg Bank joined the ‘TaxBank’ system in order to exchange
electronic documentation with the Ministry of Taxes.

“Sentr Znaniy” terafindan taskil edilen ve asas terafdaslari
Xalg Bank, Azercell, Caspel, R.I.S.K. sirkatleri olan “Start-up”
layihasina start verildi.

The 'Start-Up’ project, organized by ‘Sentr Znaniy’ in
partnership with the Xalg Bank, Azercell, Caspel and R.1.S K.
companies, was launched.

XALQ BANK: 2010 —CU ILIN MUHUM HADISSLORI



Avqust / August

Sentyabr / September

Xalg Bankin “Sabran” filial agild.

Standard Chartered Bank (Cin) ile mUxbir slagsler quruldu.

The Shabran branch of Xalg Bank was opened.

Correspondent relations with Standard Chartered Bank
(China) were established.

Oktyabr / October

Xalg Bank internet Bank ve Mobil Bank xidmeatlerini ise sald.

Xalg Bankin igtirakgisi ve asas tersfdaslarindan biri oldugu
“Start Up” layihasinin ikinci marhalesi yekunlasdi.

Xalg Bank launched Internet Banking and Mobile Banking
services.

The ‘Start Up’ project, in which Xalg Bank is a participant and
principal partner, completed its second stage.

Dekabr / December

“Xalg ©manati” sosial madeni layihasine start verildi.

“Xalg ©mansti” layihasinin birinci buraxiligi gercivasinds Xalq
Ressami BOyukaga Mirzezadays hasr olunmus sargi kegirildi
vo badii albom tegdim olundu.

Xalg Bank “intranet” — daxili korporativ portalini ise saldi.

The National Heritage socio-cultural project was launched.

As part of the first issue of the ‘National Heritage’ project, an
exhibition devoted to People’s Artist Beyukaga Mirzazadeh
was organized and an aloum of art was presented.

Xalg Bank’s Intranet — its internal corporate website — was
launched.

XALQ BANK: KEY EVENTS OF 2010

“Xalg ©@manati” layihasinin ikinci buraxilisi gargivasinde Bankin
Bas ofisinds Xalg Sairi Memmad Arazin “Segcilmis asarlori”

teqdim olundu ve ona hasr olunmusg yaradicilig axgami kegirildi.

Xalg Bank terafinden yaradiimig Senad Arxivi programi tatbiq
olundu.

Within the framework of the second issue of the National
Heritage project, the ‘Selected Works’ of People’s Poet
Mammad Araz were presented in the Bank’s Head Office and
a commemoration evening devoted to him was organized.

The Document Archive programme, created by Xalg Bank,
was put into operation.
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Xalg Bank-in 2010-cu
lde fealiyyatinin umumi yekunlar ve bank bazarinda
movagelari

The overall results of Xalg Bank activities
and its position in the banking market in 2010

llin sonuna Bankin aktivieri 632,2 min.man haddini kegib ki, bu da Azerbaycanin bank
sektoru Uzra macmu aktivierin 5%-ni tagkil edib.Faal va tarazlasdinimis bank faaliyyatinin
naticesi olarag hesabat ili erzinds Xalg Bankin aktivieri 29,6% artib.

As a result of its dynamic and balanced banking activity the assets of the Bank increased
29,6% over the year and exceeded AZN 632.2 million, which consitutes 5% of the total
assests of the banking sector of Azerbaijan.
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90%

Gelirlordas faiz galirlarinin pay!
Interest received as share of total income

Faiz gelirleri
Interestincome

Qeyri-faiz galirleri
Non-interest income

2010-cu ilde Xalg Bank faaliyystinin buttn asas
istigamatlerinda inkisaf nimayis etdirib. Olks tizre bir gox
banklarin shemiyyatli gdstericileri Uzra hatta geriloma
musahids olunsa da, Xalg Bank sabit artim dinamikasi
sayasinds asas gostaricilari Uzra 6lke banklar sirasinda

lider movgelorini daha da mohkamlandirib. Bir sira banklarin
igtisadi bohranla ve sahibkarliq fealiyystinin avwalki illerle
nisbatda tempinin asagi dismasi ile slagadar olaraq ili zerarla
basa vurmasi fonunda Xalg Bank manfeat gostericisine goroe
Azarbaycanin bank bazarinda ilk uglukde gerarlasib. Bu ise
Bankin faaliyystinin dUzgun qurulmasina ve buttin mumkun
riskler nazare alinmagla dogru strategiyanin segilmasine
delalat edir.

ilin sonuna Bankin aktivieri 632,2 min. man. haddini kegib ki,
bu da Azerbaycanin bank sektoru Uzre macmu aktivierin 5%-ni
tagkil edib. Faal va tarazlasdinimig bank faaliyyatinin naticesi
olarag hesabat ili arzinds Xalg Bankin aktivieri 29,6 % artib.
2010-cu ilin sonuna Bankin nizamnamsa kapitali 72,828 min.
man. taskil edib va bu gostariciye gors Xalg Bank Olks banklari
arasinda dorduncu olub.

Xalg Bankin kredit faaliyyati onun asas istigamatlarindan biridir,
cunki Bankin strateji inkisaf planlari ve asas galirlarin slds
edilmesi kredit smaliyyatlarinin hacminin artirimasi ile bilavasite
baglidir. Kegen il arzinda Bankin kredit portfeli 29,0 min artib ve
2010-cu ilin sonuna 471,5 min. man taskil edib va bu gostarici
Uzra Xalq Bank dlke banklari arasinda dguncu yeri tutub.

57%

Xarclerds faiz xarclarinin pay!
Interest paid as share of total expenditure

Faiz xercleri
Interest expenditure

Qeyri-faiz xarclori
Non-interest expenditure

In 2010 Xalg Bank demonstrated progress in all its principal
activities. Although many of the country’s banks fell behind
on important indicators, Xalg Bank further strengthened its
leading position on the main criteria thanks to its dynamic of
stable growth. Xalg Bank is placed among the first three banks
in Azerbaijan’s banking market in profits returned, against a
background of many banks making losses over the year as

a result of the financial crisis and the slowdown in business
activity compared to previous years. This confirms that the
Bank'’s activities were soundly established and the strategy of
taking all possible risks into consideration had been correctly
adopted.

As a result of its dynamic and balanced banking activity

the assets of the Bank increased 29.6% over the year and
exceeded AZN 632.2 million, which constitutes 5% of the
total assets of the banking sector of Azerbaijan. The Bank'’s
authorized capital amounted to AZN 72.828 million at the end
of 2010, taking Xalq Bank to 4th place among the country’s
banks on this criterion.

The lending activity of the Bank is the most priority trend, as
launching of development projects and generetion of main
incomes directly relate to the growth of credit portfolio. At the
end of 2010 the Bank's loan portfolio has increased to AZN
29,0 millon and amounted to AZN 471,5 million, placing the
Bank to the 3d place among local banks.

THE OVERALL RESULTS OF XALQ BANK ACTIVITIES AND ITS POSITION IN THE BANKING MARKET IN 2010
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Il orzinds vasaitlarin daha effektiv ve sabit idare olunmasini temin etmak
maqgsadi il uzunmuddatli vasaitlerin celb olunmasina xususi diggat yetirilb.

During the year, special attention was given to long-term funding to ensure
more effective and sustainable management of resources.
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2010-cu ilin sonuna Bankin chdsliklari 544,9 min.man.
gatib. 9walki il ile mugayisads ohdaliklerin artimi 132,7
min. manatdan ¢ox olub. Bu ise mustarilerin va terafdaslarn
etibarinin artmasi, taklif olunan mahsul va xidmatlarin
mUxtalifliyi va yuksek keyfiyysti, Bankin cevik tarif siyasati ilo
sartlendirilir.

il orzinde vesaitlerin daha effektiv ve sabit idare olunmasini
tomin etmak magsadi ile uzunmuddatli vasaitlerin calb
olunmasina xususi digget yetirilib. Naticeds, ilin sonuna
Bankda muddatli depozitler 26,8% artaraq 285,4 min. manata
catib. Bu gostarici Uzre Xalq Bank 6lks banklari arasinda ikinci
yerds yerlagib. Umumi depozitlerin strukturunda middatli
depozitlerin xtususi gakisi 63,9% tagkil edib.

2010-cu ilde nizamnama kapitall 36% artarag 72,828 min.
man taskil edan Xalg Bank 6lka banklar sirasinda ilk beslikda
yer tutub. Bankin balans kapitalinin artimi 11,6 min. man. ve
ya 15,3%-a barabar olub va 2010-cu ilin sonuna bu gostarici
87,2 min. man. teskil edib. Kapitalin adekvathigr 16 % togkil
edib.

Bankin aktivieri ve passiviarinin strukturunda dayisikliklar galir
va xarclarin formalasmasina birbasa tesir gosterib. 2009-

cu ile nisbatde hesabat ilinde Bankin xalis manfasti 22%
azalarag 13,5 min.man. tagkil edib. Olkads isglzar faalligin
nisbsten sangimasi, banklarin kreditlesma siyasatinda
risklarin giymatlandirilmasina daha ciddi yanasmasi va
maliyyalasdirmanin shamiyyatli sekilde mahdudlasdinimasi
fonunda tmumilikds butin bank sisteminin galirliliyinin
azalmasina tesir gosterib. Macburi gostericide Xalg Bank xalis
manfastinin hacmina gorsa 6lke banklar arasinda uguncu yeri
tutub. Eyni zamanda Xalq Bankda faiz galirleri Uzra 26,7%
artimin alds olunmasi Bankin rentabelliya istigamatlanmis
duzgun strategiya segmasini gosterir. Bu gdstarici Uzra do
Xalg Bank 6lkenin bank bazarinda ilk beglikdadir. Umumilikds,
faiz emaeliyyatlarindan slde olunan galirler il erzinds 26,7%
artarag 47,4 min.man.olub ki, bu da galirlerin mumi hacminin
strukturunda faiz gelirlarinin xtsusi ¢ekisi 90, 1% teskil edib.
Faiz xarcleri 2010-cu il Uzre 22,3 min. man. olub ve onlarn
dmumi xarclarda xususi gakisi 57%-a barabar olub. Bankin
uamumi xarcleri 39,1 min. man. taskil edib. Bankin aktivlerin
galirlilik emsali (ROA) 2,13%, kapitalin galirlilik emsall (ROE)
ise 15,47% toskil edib.

Liabilities of the Bank increased to AZN 544.9 million in the
past year and compared 1o the previous year this index is
greater for AZN 132,7 million. This was the result of increased
trust from clients and partners, the variety and high quality of
products and services offered and the Bank's flexible tariff
policy.

During the year, special attention was given to long-term
funding to ensure more effective and sustainable management
of resources. Thus, towards the end of the year term deposits
in the Bank had increased by 26.8% to AZN 285.4. On this
criterion, Xalg Bank now ranks second among the country’s
banks. Term deposits now comprise 63.9% of the total deposit
portfolio.

Xalg Bank, whose authorized capital increased by 36% to AZN
72.828 million in 2010, is now among the top five banks in the
country regarding this indicator. Growth in the Bank’s balance
capital amounted to AZN 11.6 million, or 15.3%, and towards
the end of 2010 it stood at AZN 87.2 million. The Bank’s
capital adequacy ratio was 16%.

Changes in the structure of the Bank’s assets and liabilities
have had a direct influence on its income and expenditure.
Net profit declined by 22% to AZN 13.5 million for the financial
year, compared to 2009. The relative slowdown in business
activity in the country, against the background of a more
serious approach to risk assessment in lending policy and a
significant limitation on funding caused a general reduction

in profitability across the whole bank system. In absolute
terms of net profit, Xalg Bank ranks third among the country’s
banks. At the same time the 26.7% growth in interest income
shows that the Bank'’s strategy is on the right path to achieve
profitability. This figure also places Xalg Bank among the top
five in the country. Overall, the percentage of income from
operations rose 26.7% to AZN 47.4 million; income from
interest amounted to 90.1% of total revenues. In 2010 interest
payments totalled AZN 22.3 million, 57% of all expenditure.
The Bank’s total expenses were AZN 39.1 million. The Bank'’s
profitability relative to its assets (ROA) was 2.13% and its rate
of return on equity (ROE) was 15.47%.

THE OVERALL RESULTS OF XALQ BANK ACTIVITIES AND ITS POSITION IN THE BANKING MARKET IN 2010
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Korporativ xidmetlar

Corporate banking

Korporativ biznes Xalg Bankin faaliyyatinin esas
istigamatlerinden biridir ve hesabat ilinde Bank bu sahade
movagelarinin méhkemlandiriimasina nail olub. Xalg Bankin
korporativ segmentda faaliyyatinin asas prinsipleri istar iri
sirkatlor, istarse de kigik ve orta sahibkarlar ugun yuksak
keyfiyyatli bank mahsullaninin teklif ediimasi, informasiya
soffafligl, xidmat tgln an rahat seraitin yaradiimasi ve
operativlikdir. Bank, calb olunmusg vesaitlerin strukturunda
sabit inkisaf numayis etdiren girkatlarin xtsusi gakisinin
artirimasina onem verir. Oten il de korporativ misterilarla, ilk
noévbada da maliyya dayanighgi nimayis etdiran muassisalerlo
uzunmuddstli tersfdaslig munasibstlerinin va konstruktiv
dialogun gurulmasi davam edib. Bankda etibarl terafdas
sirkatlerin potensialini agkarlamaga imkan veran biznes-muhit
yaradilib.

Hesabat ilinde Xalg Bank 1000 yaxin korporativ mustarinin
hesablarina xidmat gosterib. MUstarilara serbast pul
vasaitlerinin yerlasdiriimasi Uzra kredit va valyuta emaliyyatlari
aparmag imkani yaradilib, senadli smaliyyatlarin ¢esidi
geniglendirilib, korporativ bank kartlar ve inkassasiya

Corporate banking is one of the main focuses of Xalg Bank's
activity and it achieved a stronger position in the field over the
year. The main principles supporting Xalg Bank’s business

in the corporate sector for large companies, as well as for
small and medium-size businesses, are to offer high quality
banking products, information transparency and to create the
most convenient conditions for service and efficiency. The
Bank gives special importance to increasing the number of
companies which demonstrate sustainable development in
its funding structure. In the past year the Bank continued to
build constructive dialogue and long-term partnerships with
corporate clients, principally with those exhibiting financial
stability. A business environment has been created in the Bank
and this gives an opportunity to establish the potential for a
reliable partnership with companies.

During the financial year Xalg Bank operated accounts for
almost 1,000 corporate clients. These clients were offered
the opportunity to carry out credit and foreign currency
transactions to free up cash flows, a broadened spectrum
of documentary operations, corporate bank cards and cash

KORPORATIV XIDMOTLOR



Korporativ mugtarilerin depozit portfeli
(min. man)

Corporate client deposits (AZN min.)

112,0

994
579
141
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

xidmeatleri, InternetBank, MobilBank, SMS-melumatlandirma
kimi masafali xidmatlar taklif olunub. Mustarilarimiz asasan
yanacag-energetika, mobil rabite, senaye va tikinti, xidmat vo
ticarst sahalarinds fealiyyat gosterir. Musterilarin igtisadiyyatin
saheleri Uzra diversifikasiyasi gostarir ki, Bankin korporativ
musteri bazasinda sahibkarlig subyektlari Ustunltk tagkil edir.
2010-cu ilde Bank 500-s yaxin sahibkara, 300-s yaxin ticarat
va xidmet sektoru obyektine xidmat gosterib.

Hesabat ilinde korporativ mustari bazasinin kemiyyat artimi ile
yanasl mustari bazasinin keyfiyyat xtsusiyyatlori da yaxsilasib.
Huquai sexslerin depozit portfeli 102,2 min. man. ve ya 2
defeden ¢ox artarag 201,6 min. man. teskil edib. Korporativ
musteriler Uzre Bankin kredit portfeli 424,6 min. man. olmagla
awalkiile nisbatan 13,1 min. man. artib.

Korporativ siyasst strategiyasina uygun olarag Xalg Bank
2011-ciilde da yeni mahsul va xidmatler taklif etmakla yanasi
musteri hesablasmalarinin optimallasdinimasina, onlarin
biznesinin dastsklsnmasina va genislandirimasina yonaldilen
korporativ biznes faaliyystini davam etdirmak niyyatindadir.

CORPORATE BANKING

Korporativ musterilarin kredit portfeli
(mIn. man)

Corporate client loans (AZN min.)

4115 424.6

320,3

142,0
50,7
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

collection services, and remote services such as InternetBank,
MobileBank and SMS Notification. Our clients work mostly

in the fields of fuel-energy, mobile communications, industry
and construction, service and trade. The diversification of

our clients across the sectors of the economy shows that
entrepreneurship is prominent in the Bank's corporate client
base. In 2010 the Bank served 500 entrepreneurs and 300
businesses in the trade and service sector.

As well as the quantitative growth in the corporate client base,
qualitative aspects were also improved during the year. The
deposit portfolio of legal entities amounted to AZN 102.2
million, or AZN 201.6 million after more than doubling. The
Bank’s corporate credit portfolio amounted to AZN 424.6
million, an increase of AZN 13.1 million compared to the
previous year.

In accordance with its corporate policy and strategy for 2011,
by offering new products and services, as well as optimizing
client settlements in support of their business, Xalg Bank
intends to continue to expand its corporate business activities.
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Porakanda xidmatlor

Retail banking

Olkeda fealiyyst gosteran banklarin boyik skseriyystinds
fordi mugterilera xidmat biznes strategiyasinin asasini tagkil
etdiyi UgUn bu sahads guclu regabst movcuddur. Xalg Bank
bu istigamatda nailiyystlarini ilbail yaxsilagdirmag ugun fiziki
saxslera genis gesidda mahsul ve xidmetler teklif etmakla
yanas! har bir mugteriys fordi yanasma ve uzunmuddatli
amakdaslig munasibatlerinin qurulmasini asas meyar kimi
goturar. 2010-cu il erzinds Bank fiziki sexslars teklif olunan
mahsullarn sirasini geniglandirib ve onlara rahat xidmet
gOsterilmasini maksimum temin edib. Naticaeds, Bankimiz
parakenda xidmatler bazarinda movagelerini daha da
mohkemlandirib, shalinin batun tebagslerinden musterileri
calb edib.

2010-ci il erzinds Bank 15 000 yaxin fiziki sexse xidmaet
gosterib ki, bu da 2009-cu ile nisbatds 4,5% artigdir. Fiziki
saxslerden 67% hesab va depozit mahsullarinin istifadagileri,
33% ise kredit alanlardir.

2010-cu ilin sonuna Bankda fiziki sexslerin emanstleri

270,9 min. manata catmagla 2009-cu ilin yekun

gostaricisi ile mugayisadsa 65,9 min. man.ve ya 32,1 %

artib. Bank parakanda biznes sahasinda fealiyyatini daim
tekmillesdirmakds, muasir bank mahsullarr tatbig etmakds ve
mustarilerin talablerini Oyrenmakdadir. Bununla, Bankin bu
istigamatde inkisaf gostericilari Uzra har il musahida olunan
musbat artm davam edib.

Paralel olaraq fiziki sexslers ayrilan kreditlarin hacmi ds surstle
artib. Bele ki, hesabat ilinds fiziki sexslare 2009-cu ils nisbaten
15,1 miIn. man. ve ya 47% gox vasait ayrlib ki, bununla da
2010-cu ilds fiziki sexslare ayrilan kreditlarin hacmi 46,8 min.
man taskil edib. Kreditlardan 16,5 min. man Azarbaycan
ipoteka Fondu terafinden ayrilan vesaitlerin, 10,6 min. man

Because services to individual clients are at the heart of
business strategy for most banks operating in the country,
there is strong competition in this area. In addition to offering
a wide variety of products and services for individuals in order
to improve its performance in this field year by year, Xalg
Bank has adopted an individual approach to each client;
building a long-term partnership is its main criterion. The
Bank extended the range of products offered to individuals to
maintain maximum convenience of service in 2010. As a result,
it strengthened its position in the retail services market and
attracted clients from all levels of society.

In 2010 the Bank served almost 15,000 individuals; 4.5%,
more than in 2009. 67% of these individuals used accounts
and deposit facilities and 33% took out loans.

Atthe end of 2010, deposits by individuals reached AZN
270.9 million, an increase of AZN 65.9 million, or 32.1%, over
the final figure for 2009. The Bank is continuously developing
its activities in the retail business sector, applying modem
banking products and analysing client demand. Consequently,
the positive dynamics observed every year in the Bank’s
development in this area were continued.

At the same time , loans issued to individuals rose rapidly.
Thus, over the financial year individuals were issued with AZN
15.1 million, or 47%, more in loans than in 2009: in 2010

the total amount issued in loans to individuals was AZN 46.8
million. AZN 16.5 million of this amount came from funds
allocated by the Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund, AZN 10.6 million
were other mortgage loans, AZN 7.3 million were for car loans,
AZN 0.8 million were drawn on credit cards and AZN 0.3 million
were consumer loans.

Xalg Bank also improved its position in the plastic cards

PORAKONDO XIDMOTLOR



Parakanda musterilarin amanatlori Parakenda mustarilarin kredit portfeli
(min. man.) (mIn. man.)

Retail customer deposits (AZN min.) Loans to retail custumers (AZN min.)

2051 205,0

317

79,9 114

49,2

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
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Parakanda musterilerin sayi

Number of retail customers

10 508
7225
4143
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

PORAKSNDO XIDMSTLOR



Parakanda musteriler Uzre kredit portfelinin strukturu

The structure of the loan portfolio for retail customers

Diger
Other

Kredit kartlan
Credit cards

Istehlak kreditleri
Consumer loans

Avtokreditleri
Carloans

\2% _ .
Ipoteka kreditleri

0
1% Mortgage loans

ipoteka kreditlerinin, 7,3 min. man avtokreditlarin, 0,8 min.
man. kredit kartlarinin, 0,3 min. man. istehlak kreditlarinin
payina dusub.

Hesabat ilinde Xalg Bank son illerds Azerbaycanda daha

da aktuallasan plastik kartlar bazarinda da mévgelarini
yaxsilagdinb. MasterCard International ve Visa International
beynalxalg 6danis sistemlarinin Uzvu olan Bank muxtalif kartlari
buraxmaqda davam edib. llin sonuna Bankin emissiya etdiyi
plastik kartlarin tmumi sayr 19 280 adads catib ki, bu da bir

il dnceaki analoji gostericiden 7 285 adad ve ya 61% goxdur.
2010-cu ilds plastik kartlar sahiblerine xidmat gostarmak ugun
Bankin 28 bankomat faaliyyat gosterib.

2010-cu il arzinds Bank, kommunal va mobil rabite
xidmatlari Uzre Odsniglarin gabul edilmasi Ugun imkanlarini
genislandirib. Bankin buttn ofislerinds Bakcell va BBTV
sirkatinin 6demalarinin gabulu Ugun muvafig program teminati
va infrastruktur yaradilib. MUgterilers ister filiallar, isterse

da internet vasitasile kommunal xidmat haglanni, eleca da
Bakcell, Azerfon, Azerfone-Vodafone mobil rabits istifade
haglanni 6demak imkani yaradilib. Plastik kart istifadaegilarine
hamginin Internet provayderlerin xidmatlerini, kabel TV
Odaniglerini ve sigorta haglarini da intermnet vasitasilo hayata
kegirmak taklif olunub.

Mustarilarin beynalxalg pul kdgcurmalerini etibarli, rahat va
suratli hayata kegirmasini temin etmek magsadi ile 6tan

il Xalg Bank butun dunyani shate eden tacili pul kogurma
sistemlarinin xidmatlerini taqdim etdi. Belslikle, Bank, an serfali
tariflarle va sartlarla Western Union, Bistraya Pogta, Contact,
PrivatMoney, Zolotaya Korona, Xpress Money tacili pul
kdgurma sistemlarinin xidmatlerini mustarilarine taklif edib.

Xalg Bank 2011-ciilde da ferdi saxslars taklif olunan
xidmatlerin ¢esidini daha da genislendirmak, musterilarin
toleblarine uygun yeni mahsullar teklif etmak niyyatindadir.

RETAIL BANKING

AIF terefinden verilon kreditlor
Loans from the AMF (Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund)

market, which has become more popular in Azerbaijan
in recent years. The Bank, which is a member of the
MasterCard International and Visa International payment
systems continued to issue various cards.

Atthe end of the year the Bank had issued 19,280, 61%, or
7,285, more than the corresponding figure for the previous

year. In 2010, totally 28 ATM of the Bank were installed and

serving cardholders all over the country .

During 2010, the Bank extended its facilities for accepting
payments for public utilities and mobile services. Special
software developed by Bank and installed in not only

in Xalg Bank all branches but in other local banks also,
allowed to accept payments for the Bakcell and B&B

TV companies. In addition, clients were able to make
payments for utilities, as well as to the Bakcell, Azerfon
and Azerfon-Vodafone mobile phone companies, both
at branches and via the internet. Cardholders s were also
able to pay for internet provider services, cable TV and
insurance premiums via the internet.

In order to maintain reliable, convenient and speedy
international money transfers for clients, last year Xalg Bank
continued to present express money transfer service to
cover the whole world. Thus the Bank offered the services
of the fast money transfer systems of Western Union,
Bistraya Pochta, Contact, PrivatMoney, Zolotaya Korona
and Xpress Money on the most advantageous tariffs and
conditions.

In 2011 Xalg Bank intends to expand even further the
spectrum of services offered to individual clients and to
offer new products according to client demand.
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Risklorin Idare Edilmasi

Risk Management

Xalg Bankda risklarin idare edilmasi sistemi risklarin taninmasi,
onlarin tahlili va idara olunmasina yonalib. Risklarin taninmasi,
Olgllmasi ve idars ediimasi prinsipleri Azerbaycan Respublikasi
Markazi Bankinin Risklarin idars Edilmasi Standartina, Markezi
Bankin risklerin idare ediimasi sahasindaki talimatlarina

va Bazel Komitasinin tovsiyalarine uygun hayata kegirilir.
Hesabat ilinds Xalg Bank risklerin idare olunmasi istigamatinda
faaliyyatini davam etdirib. Bankin buttin riskli emaliyyatlari
muayyan edilimis limitlar va mahdudiyyatler ¢garcivasinds, ciddi
nazarstde saxlanilmagla hayata kegirilib. Bu zaman potensial
itkilerin hacminin mahdudlasdinimasi, risklerin vaxtinda
dayarlandiriimasi, aydin ve effektiv idars olunmasi kimi Ug asas
elementler Bank tarafinden bu sahade asas meyarlar kimi
géturulub.

2010-cu il arzinde Bankda risklere nazaratin daha effektiv
hayata kegirilmasi va hesabatliigin guclendiriimasi magsadi ile
Risklarin idare edilmasi idarasi ila diger idaralerin garsililigl is
proseduralart musayyen olunub ve risklere aesaslanan idareetme
madaniyystine kegid istigamatinde shamiyystli addimlar atilib.
Risklarin idare edilmasi isinin takmillagdiriimasi, tetbig olunan
metodlarin gabagcll beynalxalq tecribays uygunlasdinimasi
magsadi ile kadr potensialinin guclendirilmasi istigamatinds
ixtisaslasmis beynalxalg aragdirma institutlar (GARP, WatRisQ
va s.) ile six emakdaglig edilir. Bu tedbirler gargivesinds Xalq
Bankin smekdaglar treyninglers calb olunaraqg bir negs
muxtslif sertifikatlar slds edibler.

Bankin smanatgilerin ve sshmdarlarinin maraglarinin
gorunmasi magsedi ils gozlenilen risklarin idarse edilmasi

The risk management system in Xalg Bank is aimed at the
identification of risks, their analysis and management. The
principles of identifying, measuring and managing risks are
carried out according to the Risk Management Standards
of the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan, the
instructions on risk management of the Central Bank and
the recommendations of the Basel Committee. Xalg Bank
continued its work on risk management throughout the
financial year. All the Bank’s risky operations were undertaken
within the defined limits and restrictions, and under strict
control. The three basic elements: limiting the amount of
potential loss, evaluating the risk in timely fashion and clear
and effective management have been adopted as the main
criteria by the Bank.

During 2010, in order to achieve more effective control of risk
and to strengthen accountability, mutual working procedures
for the Risk Management department with other departments
were defined and important steps taken to progress to a
culture of risk management. We are working closely with
international research institutions (GARP, WatRISQ etc.)

to strengthen the capacities of our personnel, improve the
work of Risk Management and adapt the methods used in
leading international practice. Within the framework of these
measures, Xalg Bank employees were involved in training and
achieved certification at several levels.

To protect the interests of the Bank’s depositors and
shareholders, in addition to the management of anticipated
risk, stress tests have been carried out in various scenarios

RISKLSRIN IDARS EDILMSSI
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ile yanagl, Bankin gdzlanilmaz, lakin mumkun risklers ve ani
igtisadi soklara davamliigini da yoxlamag ve daim nazaratda
saxlamaq ugun muxtslif ssenarilerds stress-testlor kegirilib.
Homginin, xarici ekspertlorin apardigi talimlerde mutemadi
istirak edilir, maslehatlagsmaler aparilir. Bazarin spesifikasina
adekvat ssenarilerin yaradilmasi ve alinan naticalera gore
muvafig tedbirler planinin hazirlanmasi istigamatinda igler
davam etdirilib. Gozlenilmaz risklers garsi fovgelads tedbirler
planin bir hissasi kimi kapitallagsmaya boyuk shamiyyat verilir.
Bela ehtiyatl risk siyassti naticasinds global maliyys bohranina
baxmayaraq hesabat ili erzinde Xalg Bank menfastls islomakla
yanas! kapitalin adekvatliq seviyyasina gore da Markezi

Bankin minimum telablarini xeyli Ustalayib. il arzinde korporativ
bankgliliga paralel riteyl musterilars taklif olunan mahsul

va xidmatlarin spektri genislendirilib, regional ekspansiya
guclendirilib ki, bu strateji addimlar hem da perspektivda
risklerin diversifikasiyas kimi de giymatlandirmak olar.

Xalg Bank fealiyyati dovrunds garsilasa bilacayi shamiyyatli
risklerin idare edilmasi istigamatindse gabagcil Usul ve alstlarden
genis istifade edir. Bankin risklerin idars olunmasi sistemi
maliyye fealiyyati ila alagali butun risk novlerini — kredit, likvidlik,
amealiyyat, bazar ve digar mumkun riskleri shate edir.

Kredit Risklari. Aktivierin asas hissasini taskil edan kredit riskleri,
Odeme gabiliyyati riski, defolt riski, cemlasma riski Xalg Bankda
muxtslif dsullarla giymstlendirilir ve naticeler daim naezarstde
saxlanilir. Tetbig olunan diversifikasiya modelleri galocekds
yarana bilacak bu risklaera nezarst etmaya xidmat edir.

Likvidlik riski. Son illorde yerli banklarin garsilasdigi en boyuk
risklardan biri likvidlik riskidir. Bu hem bankin 6z dhdaliklerini
yerina yetira bilmamasi, ham da daxil olan iri mablagli kredit
sorgularinin maliyyalasdira bilmamasi kimi basa dusultr. Likvidlik
riski aparilan daxili giymatlandirmaler, likvidlik bosluglarina
nazarat, yigilimis likvidlik bosluglarinin tahlili, muxtslif ssenarilerde
bankin likvidlik riskine dozumluluyl baximindan nazaret Bankin
Xoezinadarliq ve Risklerin idars Ediimasi idarsleri tersfinden
hayata kegirilir.

omealiyyat risklari. Hazirda Xalg Bank muasir texnologiyalara ve
program teminatlarina sarmaysler yonaldir ki, bu da emaliyyat
risklari bas veracayi halda Bankin hassashigini ve davamiiigini
temin edacak.

Bazar Riskleri. Bank bazar risklarina oldugca hassas yanasir,
riskli birja emaliyyatlarina getmir ve asasen dovlst taminatli
giymatli kagizlarla emaliyyatlar aparir. Birja spekulyasiyalari, artiq
xarici borclanma va bu kimi diger bazar va faiz risklarine hassas
olan emaliyyatlardan gagmagla Xalg Bank maliyys institutlari
arasinda daha konservativ, stabil ve ugurla inkisaf eden Bank
tagkilati imici formalasdinb.

in order to check and maintain the Bank's ability to withstand
unexpected risk and sudden economic shocks. Further, we
regularly participate in training led by foreign experts and we
are in constant consultation with them. Work has continued
on creating accurate market scenarios and, from the results
observed, preparing appropriate rafts of measures. As a part
of the emergency plan for measures against unexpected

risk, we place great weight on capitalisation. As a result of
our prudent risk policy, and despite the global financial crisis,
in addition to profitability, Xalg Bank exceeded the minimum
requirements of the Central Bank capital adequacy during the
financial year. The range of products and services offered to
retail clients, as well as corporate customers, was extended
and regional expansion was strengthened during the year;
these developments may also be regarded as further steps of
strategic diversification against risk.

Xalg Bank makes extensive use of the leading methods and
tools for managing the main risks it can face in its work. The
Bank’s risk management system covers every kind of possible
risk relating to financial activities —credit, liquidity, operational,
market and others.

Credit Risk. The main risks associated with loan: the risks of
insolvency, default and concentration are evaluated by various
methods and the results are under constant monitoring in Xalg
Bank. The diversification models applied serve to monitor and
control those risks which may occur in the future.

Liquidity Risk. One of the biggest risks facing local banks in
recent years is liquidity risk. This is understood both as a bank
being unable to fulfil its duties and being unable to finance
requests for large-scale projects such as loans. Liquidity

risk is assessed internally by the Bank’s Treasury and Risk
Management Departments, analysing gaps in liquidity control,
analysis of cumulative gaps in liquidity and the Bank's liquidity
risk tolerance in various scenarios.

Operational Risk. Xalg Bank is currently investing in modern
technology and software which will provide sensitivity and
ensure the Bank's sustainability in the event of operational risk.

Market Risk. The Bank adopts a highly sensitive approach to
market risk; it does not enter risky exchange operations and
mainly carries out state-secured transactions. By avoiding
exchange speculation and external borrowing and other
operations vulnerable to market and interest fluctuations,
Xalg Bank is regarded as a more conservative, stable and
successfully developing Bank by the financial institutions.

RISKLSRIN IDARS EDILMSSI



Xalg Bank faaliyysti dovrunds garsilasa bilacayi shamiyyatli risklarin idara
edilmasi istigamatindse gabaqgcil usul va alstlerden genis istifads edir.

Xalg Bank makes extensive use of the leading methods and tools for
managing the main risks it can face in its work.

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Flial sebakasi

Branch network

Xalg Bankin dinamik inkisaf strategiyasinin asas
istigamatlarindan biri filial sebakasinin geniglandiriimasi va
Olkanin butun regionlarinin muasir bank mahsullar ile shata
edilmasidir. Ugurlu regional siyasatinin naticasi kimi 2010-cu
ilin sonuna Bankin bir cox igtisadi faal regional markazlerde
filial va sObalari fealiyyat gosterib.

2010-cu ilds Xalg Bankin iki yeni filiall - Xagmaz va Sabran
filiallar ehalinin xidmatina verilib va bununla Bankin filial
sobakasi 12 filialdan ve 2 sObadan ibarst oldu. Her il yeni filial
agmagla, Xalg Bank filial sabakasinin artim tempinin sabitliyini
temin edir.

Xalg Bank filiallarin sayini artimlarin xidmatlerin musterilara
yaxinlagdirimasi, yeni musterilerin, o cumladan kigik va orta
sahibkarlarin celb ediimasi kimi vazifelari yerina yetirir. Bununla
da Bank hamginin muxtalif regional zonalarda foaliyyst
gOsteran iri muassisa ve taskilatlara kompleks sakilds universal
bank mahsullarini taklif etmak imkanlarini da geniglandirmis
olur.

One of the main thrusts of Xalg Bank’s dynamic development
strategy is to expand the network of branches and to offer
modern bank products to all regions of the country. As a result
of its successful regional policy, the Bank branches were
functioning in many economically active regional centres by
the end of 2010.

Two new branches of Xalg Bank — Khachmaz and Shabran
branches - were opened for service in 2010, thus its branch
network comprised 12 branches and 2 departments. By
opening an every new branch , Xalg Bank maintains a stable
momentum in the expansion of its network all over the country.

By increasing the number of branches, Xalg Bank brings its
services closer to clients and develops a new client base,
including small and medium businesses. The Bank also
increases its opportunities to offer universal banking products
as a complex to the large enterprises and organizations which
function in various regional zones.

FILIAL SOBOKoSI



Bankin filial siyaseti yeni xidmat ofislarinin artinimasi ile yanag,
maovcud strukturlarin effektivliyinin artinlmasina da yonalib.
Bankin butun filiallarmda muasir bank texnologiyalar tatbiq
olunub va musterilara is prinsipi ferdi yanasma asasinda
qurulub.

Olkenin an boyiik universal banklarindan biri olan Xalg Bank
statusuna uygun olarag filial sebekasinin genislendirimasi
tempini geloecakdes da yuksak saviyyads saxlamaq
niyyatindadir. Regionlarnn sosial-igtisadi inkisafi fonunda bank
maehsullarina telebatin artdigini nazars alarag, Xalg Bank
garsidaki illerde Lankaran, $Saki, Semkir, Barda, Samaxi,
Naftalan, Quba, Qusar, Qazax, ismayilli va imislide filiallar
agmagi planlasdirir.

BRANCH NETWORK

In addition to increasing branch network, a new service policy,
aimed atincreasing the efficiency of existing structures,

has been instituted. Modern banking technology has been
installed in all branches of the Bank based on the principle of
adopting an individual approach to customers and business.

Xalg Bank, which is one of the largest multi-operational banks
in the country, intends to maintain the high rate of expansion of
its branch network in the future, in accordance with its status.
In the light of socio-economic development in the regions

and the increasing demand for banking products, Xalg Bank
plans to open branches in Lankaran, Sheki, Shamkir, Barda,
Shamakhi, Naftalan, Guba, Gusar, Gazakh, Ismayilli and Imishli
in the coming years.
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Insan resurslarnin idara edilmasi

Human Resource Management

2010-cu il erzinds insan Resurslarin idars edilmasi proseslari
Bankin suratls inkisaf eden biznesina ve regabstli emak bazar
telablerina uygun hayata kegirilib. Xalg Bankin kadr strategiyasl
planlagsma, smakdaslarn faaliyyatinin deysrlandirilmasi
asasinda qurulub, tehsil vasitesi ile isgilerinin karyer inkisafi
ugun imkanlar yaradir.

Yeridilon kadr siyasati emakdaslarnn pessakarliq baximindan
inkisafini dasteklayir, korporativ madaniyysti asas tutur ve bu
addimlar emak bazarinda Bankin regabat gabiliyystini artirr.
Faaliyyatin yeni istigamatlerinin manimsanilmasine ve muasir
informasiya texnologiyalarinin tetbig edilmasi seraitinde
amakdaslann secilmasina, onlarin potensialinin semarali
istifadasine, heyatin pesakarliq seviyyasinin yuksalmasi Ugin
alverigli seraitin yaradilmasina ve korporativ madaniyystin
inkisafina ciddi digget yetirilib.

Butdn bunlar musterilera xidmatin yuksak keyfiyyatini temin

omakdaslarin sayi

Number of employees
245
164
97
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

In 2010 the processes of human resource management

were conducted in accordance with the requirements of the
Bank’s rapidly developing business and the competitive labour
market. Xalg Bank's personnel strategy is based on planning,
the evaluation of employees’ performance and training for
employees to create opportunities for career development.

The personnel strategy supports the professional development
of staff and encourages a corporate culture, thus improving the
Bank’s competitiveness in the labour market. Close attention
was given to employees’ handling of new directions in their
work, the selection and application of modern information
technology, to the efficient use of their potential and creating
an environment conducive to raising the professional level of
staff and developing a corporate culture.

This has created the conditions to provide high quality services
1o clients. There was strong focus on the professionalism of

INSAN RESURSLARININ IDARD EDILMOS



etmaya imkan yaradib. Bankin isgilerinin pesekarligina,
muteraqqi bank texnologiyalari ile tanis olmalarina, dmumi
madani saviyyasina, musterilerle ve tersfdaslarla esmekdagliq
bacarigina ciddi diggat yetirilib.

2011-ciil 1 yanvar tarixine Bankda 383 emakdas galisib,
2009-cu ile nisbatda isci artimi 22% taskil edib. Hesabat ili
arzinds Banka 103 yeniisgi gabul olunub. Hesabat ilinde
Bankin 138 emoakdas mUxtalif seminar va treyninglards istirak
edibler. Seminar ve treyninglarden 49-u bank daxilinds, 71-i
Olke daxilinda, 18-iisa xarici 0lkelards kegirilib. Yeni ganc
kadrlarin calb olunmasi ugun Bank ali tahsil musssisalari

ila yaxindan smakdagliq edib. Umumilikde Bankda calisan
amakdaglardan 303 nafer va ya heystin taxminan 80%-i ali
tehsilli, 25 nafer orta ixtisas tehsilli, 2 nafer pesa va 53 nafer
orta tehsillidir.

Umumi isgi sayinda bank sahesinds 1-5 il is tecriibasi olanlar

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

the Bank’s employees, their familiarity with advanced banking
technology, their general cultural level and ability to get on with
clients and colleagues.

On 1 January 2011, 383 persons were employed by the
Bank, an increase of 22% compared to 2009. 103 new
employees were taken on by the Bank during 2010. 138

of the Bank’s employees participated in various seminars
and training. 49 of the seminars and training sessions were
organized within the Bank; 71 were organized in-country
and 18 were held abroad. The Bank has worked closely with
local higher educational institutions to attract new, young
staff. Overall, 303 employees, or 80% of the staff working

in the Bank, have a higher education, 25 employees have
secondary professional education, 2 have vocational and
53 have secondary education. Of all employees, 83% have
1-5years’ experience in the banking sector, 12% have 5-10
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- 83%, 5-10 il bank tacrubasi olanlar — 12% va 10 ildan ¢ox
bank tecrubasi olanlar 5% tagskil edib.

Bank rehbarliyinin tagabbust ile 2010-cu ilds har ay korporativ
tadbirlarin kegirilmasina start verilib. Omakdaslann geyri-is
vaxtlanni birge kegirmasinin tesgkil ediimasinds asas magsad

is prosesine musbat emosiyalar slave etmak, isgiler arasinda
kommunikasiyani yaxsilasdirmag, Umumi ise mansublug hissini
guclendirmakdir.

Bankin hazirda galisan emakdaglar va is axtaran pesekar
kadrlar Ggun celbedici galmasi tgn 201 1-ciilds da Insan
Resurslarn bolmasi bazardaki deyisiklikleri daim nezarstde

saxlayacaq. Kadrlarin effektivliyinin asas gostericileri Uzra
sistemin yaradilmasi, muvafig biznes-strategiyalarin quruimasi,
pesekar bacariglann inkisaf etdiriimasi istigamatinde Bank
kadr siyasstini davam etdirecoek. Kadr ehtiyatinin segiimasi
sisteminin yaradiimasi, insan resurslarinin ugotunun, tehlilinin,
planlasdinimasinin avtomatlasdiriimig sistem vasitasi ile idara
edilmasinin taskili kadrlarin semarali idars olunmasinin asas
parametrlsrindan biridir.

Bankda emayin ddanilmasi ve maddi stimullasdirma
sisteminin yaradilmasl, Bankin struktur boime rehbarlarinin
idaracilik fealiyyati standartlarinin tortib ediimasi, istedadli
kadrlarin Bankda galmasi, yeni personalin cslb olunmasi
va onlarn oyradilmasi Uzre semarali sistemin yaradilmasi isi

years’ banking experience and 5% have more than 10 years of
banking experience.

In 2010 the Bank’s management initiated monthly corporate
events. The main aims in organizing for employees to spend
time together after work are to generate positive feelings
about the work process, to improve communication between
employees and to enhance an overall sense of belonging to a
COMMON cause.

To ensure that the Bank remains attractive for current
employees and for job-seeking professionals, the Human
Resources department will always keep abreast of changes

in the market. The Bank will continue its personnel policy based
on the main indicators of employee effectiveness by establishing
appropriate business strategies and developing professional
skills. Building a human resource selection system and
developing an automated administrative system for the
accounting, analysis and planning of human resources are
some of the main parameters for the effective management of
personnel.

Creation of an effective system of salaries and financial incentives,
setting standards for the managerial work of the Bank’s
departmental heads, retaining talented staff, and recruiting and
training new personnel processes will continue in the next year.
Besides training and seminars, there are plans to initiate a system

INSAN RESURSLARININ IDARS EDILMOSI



davam edecsk. Planlara asasan, treyning va seminarlarla
yanasl Bankin tadris markazinds masafali tahsil sisteminin
totbigi nazerds tutulub. Kadr menecmentinin planlarina
asasen, 201 1-cu ilds kollektivde komanda ruhunun
mohkamlendiriimasi tcun bir sira birgs sosial tadbirler hayata
kecirilacak. Ganc va perspektivli mutaxassislarin Banka calb
edilmasi istigamatinds ciddi is aparimasina xususi onem
verilacek. Bu magsedle 201 1-ci ilde ali tahsil musssisalari

ile six emakdasligr davam etdirmakle yanasi universitetlarde
‘karyera gunleri® ve gorusler kegirilacak, Bankda istehsalat
va diplomagabagdi tecrubalerin kegirilmasi ugun musabigslar
teskil olunacagq, ali tehsil musssisslarindsn musabigs asasinda
secilmis telebaler ugun tegaud programi hazirlanacaag.

Bunlarla yanasi, yuksak motivasiyall, Xalg Bankin magsadlarini
Vo strategiyasini anlayan, hamginin Bankin korporativ
madaniyyat prinsiplerina xidmat gostaren vahid komandanin
yaradilmasi istigamatinds is davam edscsk.

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

of distance learning in the Bank'’s education centre.

Personnel management is planning a series of social activities
in 2011 to strengthen team spirit in the workforce. Priority

will be given to attracting young professionals to the Bank.
With this in mind, 2011 will see, besides a continuation of the
close cooperation with higher educational establishments,
the organisation of ‘career days' and meetings in the
universities, competitions for pre-diploma work experience in
the Bank, and the preparation of a scholarship programme
on a competitive basis for students of higher educational
institutions.

In addition, work will continue on the creation of a highly
motivated team of people who understand Xalg Bank’s
objectives and strategy, thus serving the Bank's principles of
corporate culture.
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Informasiya texnologiyalar

Information technologies

2010-cu ilde Bankin balmalarinin funksional faaliyyatinin
desteklanmasina ve tekmillagdiriimasins xidmat eden
avtomatlasdinimig sistemin inkisafl, yeni texnologiyalar ve

IT hellerin tetbigi davam edib. il erzinds Bankin informasiya
sisteminin tehlukesizlik ve etibarlilig seviyyasinin yuksalmasina
digget artinlib.

2009-cu ilin sonundan baslayarag Bank IT infrastrukturunun
muasir texnologiyalar esasinda yenilenmasi ve
tekmillesdiriimasi layihasinin icrasi 2010-cu ilds filiallar da daxil
olmagla muvaffaqiyystle basa catdirilib.

Mustaerilarin sayinin artmasi ve regionlarda filial sebakasinin
geniglanmasini nazara alarag mugterilerle Bank arasinda
alagelerin daha keyfiyyatli ve gevik olmasini tamin etmak
moagsadile moveud filiallararasi xstler fiber-optik kabells avez
edilib va trafikin surati 10 Mbit/s saviyyasinadak galdirlib.
Filiallarda sebska avadanliglar muasir telablers cavab

veran yeni avadanliglarla evez edilib va sabaka tahlukasizliyi
ile bagl bir sira tekmillasdirma ve standartlagdirma igleri
aparilib. Hemginin, Bas ofisla filiallar arasinda korporativ
sebaka istifadagilarinin telefon alagsleri yaradiimasinin idare
olunmasini ve Banka daxil olan zenglerin emalini hayata
kegiran sistem qurulub. Magsad regionlarda yerlasen filiallarda
mustarilere operativ xidmet taklif etmak olmusdur. Eyni
zamanda, daxili intranet sabekasi yaradilib, yeni qurulmus
avadanliglar va sistemlar sayasinds bir gox biznes proseslori
markazlesdirilib. Il arzinda IT xarclerinin azaldimasi ve xidmaet

In 2010 Xalg Bank continued the process of developing of an
automated system to support and improve the functioning of
all departments and implementation of the latest technology
and IT solutions. Greater attention was given to increasing
levels of security and reliability in the Bank’s information
system.

The implementation of a project to update and improve the
IT infrastructure with modern technology, which began at the
end of 2009, was successfully completed in 2010; and here
branch offices were also included.

As the number of clients is continually increasing and the
network of branches is expanding across the regions,
communication lines existing between branches were
replaced by fibre-optic cables and the speed of traffic was
increased to 10 Mbit/s in order to provide a higher quality

and more rapid connection between the Bank and its clients.
Network equipment was replaced by new, modern equipment
and web security was enhanced by a number of improvements
and standardisations. Further, a system was installed to control
telephone connections for corporate network users between
the Head office and branches and the processing of all
incoming to the Bank calls. The aim was to offer an operational
service to customers in regional branches. At the same time,
an intranet portal was created and, thanks to the new built-in
equipment and systems many business processes have been
centralised. Over the year measures were taken to reduce IT

INFORMASIYA TEXNOLOGIYALARI



Il orzinda Bankin informasiya sisteminin tahlukasizilik ve etibarliliq
soviyyasinin yuksalmasine diggst artirilb.

Greater attention was given to increasing levels of security and reliability in
the Bank's information system.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGIES
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keyfiyyatinin artinimasi magsadile tedbirlar hayata kegirilib.
Muasir bank biznesinin IT-nin shamiyyatinin artmasi ve elektron
kommersiyanin daim yenilenmasi nazars alinib.

2010-cu il Bankin Bas ofisi ve filiallannda korporativ standartlar
tetbiq edilib, bankdaxili istifade edilan program teminatlarinin
lisenziyalasdirimasi siyasstinin davami kimi Microsoft sirkati ile
Entreprise Agreement sazisi imzalanib va tatbiq edilib.

Hesabat ilinds korporativ ve parakands biznesi inkisaf
etdirmak, butlin muasir satis kanallarindan istifade etmakla
musterilers genis gesidds keyfiyyatli bank mahsullar teqdim
etmak Ugun moveud bank sisteminin muasir telablara

uygun olan avtomatlasdirimig bank sistemi ile avez edilmasi
istigamstinde arasdirmalar davam etdirilib. Yeni sistemin tatbiqi
informasiya tehltkasizliyinin daha yuksek saviyyada temin
edilmasina, smaliyyatlarin effektiviiyinin artinimasina, risklerin
idare olunmasi sisteminin tekmillegdiriimaesine ve smaliyyat
risklarini minimuma endirimasina serait yaradacag. 2010-cu
ilde Ehtiyat Markazinin yaradilmasi ile bagli iglera start verilib,
Markazin infrastrukturu ile alagadar olaraq struktur, avadanliq
va program teminatinin segilmasi ve digar texniki talablarin
muayyanlasdiriimasi marhalesi baga gatdinlib.

Muxtslif dema sistemlarinin tatbigina xususi digget yetirilib.
2010-cu ilda Bakcell 6desmalarinin gabulu tGgtn muvafiq
program teminati ve infrastruktur yaradilib. Xalg Bank
torafinden yaradilan bu sistem Uzearinden Bankin buttn
filiallar, elece da 30-dan yuxari diger yerli banklar da Bakcell
Odeniglerinin gabulunu aparir.

Qisa muddat erzinde BBTV 6dema sisteminin de tatbigi basa
gatdinlib, Bankin Baki va Sumaayit seharlerinds yerlagan
filiallarnda, eleca da Nar Mobile va Azarfon-Vodafone ddems
mantagalerinds gabul qusursuz hayata kegirilib.

Eyni zamanda, Vergilar Nazirliyi ile senad mubadilesinin
operativliyini temin etmak magsadi ile 2010-cu ilde Xalq
Bankda TaxBank sistemi tatbig olunub. Naticads Vergilar
Nazirliyi il kagiz daslyicilar vasitasile aparilan senad mubadilasi
butdvitkle elektronlasdinlib.

Xalg Bank inkisaf strategiyasini reallagdirarken bank servisinin
keyfiyyot xarakteristikalari, regabst tstunltklari ve butoviikde
isin semaraliliyinin ilk ndGvbada tatbig olunan informasiya
texnologiyalarindan asil oldugunu 201 1-ci ilde de asas
gOturacek. Bu baximdan swalki illerds oldugu kimi, gelecakda
de Bankda IT ve tehliikasizlik sistemlerinin dayanigli inkisafina
va muasir taleblara uygunlasdiriimasina xtususi nem verilocok.

costs and improve service quality. The growing dependence of
the modern banking business on IT, the fundamental changes
continuously taking place in e-commerce and the current and
future requirements of clients were all taken into account.

In 2010 corporate standards were applied to the Bank's head
office and branches; as the continuation of this policy the
licensing of software used inside the Bank was introduced and
an Enterprise Agreement was signed with Microsoft.

In order to develop corporate and retail business and to
present a wide range of quality banking products, using
all modern channels of sale, research was continued to
replace the current banking system with an automatic one
corresponding to modern requirements.

The application of the new system will create the conditions

to ensure a higher level of information security, increasing
operational effectiveness, improving the risk management
system and reducing operational risk to the minimum. In 2010
establishment of a Reserve Centre started ; the selection of
structure, equipment and other technical requirements related
10 the centre’s infrastructure was completed.

There was a special focus on the implementation of
various payment systems. In 2010 appropriate software
and infrastructure for accepting Bakcell (mobile operator)
payments was created. All branches of the Bank, as well as
more than 30 other banks, accept Bakcell payments via the
system created by Xalg Bank.

The implementation of a B&B TV payment system was also
completed swiftly and faultlessly in branches of the Bank in the
cities of Baku and Sumaayit, alongside payment points for Nar
Mobile and Azerfon-Vodafone.

Simultaneously, the Taxbank system was implemented in
Xalg Bank in 2010, in order to maintain effective document
exchange with the Ministry of Taxes. As a result, the former
document exchange with the Ministry of Taxes by paper
carriers is conducted wholly electronically.

Xalg Bank’s main strategy of development, to achieve a
banking service of quality, competitive advantage and all-round
efficiency, will primarily depend on information technology

to be applied in 2011. In this respect, as in previous years,
adapting the Bank’s IT and security systems to modern
requirements and sustainable development will be always of
particular importance in the future too.

INFORMASIYA TEXNOLOGIYALARI
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Bankdaxili istifada edilen program teminatlarinin lisenziyalasdiriimasi siyasatinin
davami kimi Microsoft sirketi ile Enterprise Agreement sazisi imzalanib va tatbiq
edilib.

As the continuation of this policy the licensing of software used inside the Bank
was introduced and an Enterprise Agreement was signed with Microsoft.
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Sosial-madani layihe “Xalg omanati”

National Heritage socio-cultural project

2010-cu il Xalg Bankin sosial-madaeni istigamatda foaliyyatinin
baglangic dévru oldu. Xalgimizin madani irsinin gorunub
galacek nasillera oturtimasi va manavi dayarlarimizin
dunyaya tanidilmasi magsedi ile Bank “Xalg Omaneti” -
sosial-madaeni layihasins start verdi. Madani irsi xalgin heg bir
giymatls olgulmayan manavi, madani va sosial kapitall kimi
dayerlandiran Bank bu layihs ila Azarbaycan xalginin gérkamli

sonat ve elm xadimlarinin yaratdiglarina an giymatli 9manat
olaraqg dayer verdiyini numayis etdirdi.

Layihe gergivesinda Azarbaycanin gorkemli edabiyyat,
incesanat va elm xadimlarinin aserleri, elece da folklor
numunalari nafis tertibatda nasr olunub sanatsevearlarin
ixtiyarina verilir. “Xalg ©@mansati” layihasinin ilk buraxilisi Xalq
rassami Boyukaga Mirzezadanin hayat va yaradiciigina hasr
olunmusdur. Bu buraxilig gargivasinds Xalg Bankin resm-
galereyasinda Boyukaga Mirzezadanin resm sargisinin agiligl
hayata kegirilmis ve Bankin dastayi ile nasr edilmis badii
albom tagdim olunmusdur. Layihanin ikinci buraxiligi Xalq sairi
Mammad Araza hasr ediimisdir. Azerbaycanin doviat ve milli
mukafatlar laureat, “Istiglal” ordeni kavaleri, Azerbaycanin Xalg

2010 was important for Xalg Bank’s socio-cultural life. The
Bank launched National Heritage,a socio-cultural project
with the aim of protecting our people’s cultural heritage and
passing it on to future generations, as well as introducing
our moral values to the world. The Bank holds our national
valuable cultural heritage as priceless moral, cultural and
social capital and with this project it demonstrated that
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it grades the works of the great cultural and scientific
representatives of the people of Azerbaijan as the most
precious values.

Within this project the works of great literary, artistic and
scientific figures of Azerbaijan, as well as examples of its
folklore, were published in elegant design and made available
to cultural enthusiasts. The first issue from the National
Heritage project was devoted to the life and work of People’s
Artist Beyukaga Mirzazadeh. An album of the Artist’s work

was published with the support of the Bank and presented

at the opening of Beyukagha Mirzazadeh’s exhibition in Xalq
Bank's Art gallery. The next issue from the project was devoted
to People’s Poet Mammad Araz. “The Selected Works” of

SOSIAL-MODONI LAYIHS “XALQ SMANDSTI”
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sairi Memmad Arazin (1933-2004) “Segilmis asarlari” genis
ictimaiyyate tagdim olundu. Tagdim olunan kitabin unikalligi
ondadir ki, kitabin format va dizayni sairin 0zu terafinden 1968-

Cl ilde yazdigi “Vasiyyat” seirinds tasvir ediimisdir.

“Xalg Omansati” layihasinin garsidaki illarde de davam
etdiriimasi nazardas tutulur. Layine madaniyyat ve incasanatin
mUxtalif sahslarinden madani irsimizin tohfasi olan
senatkarlann yaradiciligini desteklayacak. Azarbaycan
folklor numunalarinin, sair ve yazicilarinin, ressam ve
heykeltaraslarinin, xananda ve bastekarlarinin, alim ve
mutafekkirlarinin yaratdiglarini daim diggat markazinda
saxlamagla, onlarin incilarini muxtalif dillare ¢gevirmakls, dinya
xalglarina tegdim etmakls, Xalg Bank Azerbaycanin madani
irsinin, manavi dayarlarinin bagsr madaniyystine inteqgrasiya
etmasina tekan veracek.

NATIONAL HERITAGE SOCIO-CULTURAL PROJECT

laureate of State and National awards of Azerbaijan, holder of
the Order of Independence and People’s Poet of Azerbaijan
Mammad Araz (1933-2004), was presented to a large audience.
The unigue quality of the book was that the poet had, himself,
described the format and design of the book in his poem
Testament, in 1968.

The National Heritage project is planned to continue in
forthcoming years. The project will support the work of

artists from various fields of art and culture who have made a
contribution to our cultural heritage. By keeping examples of
folklore, the work of the poets and writers, artists and sculptors,
khanendes (mugham singers) and composers, scientists and
thinkers of Azerbaijan at the centre of attention, by translating
these jewels into different languages and presenting them to the
people of the world, Xalg Bank will promote the integration of
Azerbaijan’s cultural heritage and moral values into world culture.
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Umumi malumat

Adr: Acig Sehmdar Camiyyati “Xalg” Banki

Qisaldilmis adi: Xalg Bank

Qeydiyyat: N1104-A1-414 Azarbaycan Respublikasi 9dliyya Nazirliyi
Lisenziya: Azerbaycan Respublikasi Markazi Banki tarafinden

verilmis 27 Dekabr 2004-cU il tarixli, 246 sayl lisenziya

Foaliyyats basladigi tarix:

24 Dekabr 2004-cu il

Faktiki Unvan:

AZ1006, Ingaatcilar pr.,22L,Baki seh., Azerbaycan

Huguai unvan:

AZ1025, Babsk pr., 1145, Baki seh., Azerbaycan

VOEN: 2000296061

Kod: 505055

SWIFT: HAJCAZ22

Tel.: +994 (12) 404 43 43
Faks: +994 (12) 404 43 34
Teleks: 142400 XALG Al
E-pogt: mail@xalgbank.az
URL: www.xalgbank.az

Beynalxalg auditor:

BDO International

Filiallarn sayi: 12
Sobalerin sayi: 2
isgilorin sayi: 383

osas maliyys gostericileri:

Aktiviar: 632,184 min AZN
Kreditlor: 471,457 min AZN
omanatlor: 472,462 min AZN

Xalis manfost:

13,496 min AZN

Nizamnamsa kapitalr:

72,828 min AZN




General details

Name: Open Joint-Stock Company Xalg Bank

Short name: Xalg Bank

Registration: 1104-A1-414, Ministry of Justice of Azerbaijan
License: N246 issued by Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic on December 27th, 2004
Date of establishment: December 24, 2004

Actual address: 22L, inshaatchilar ave., AZ1006, Baku, Azerbaijan
Legal address: 1145, Babek ave., AZ1025, Baku, Azerbaijan

Tax ID: 2000296061

Code: 505055

SWIFT: HAJCAZ22

Tel: 994 (12) 404 43 43

Fax: 994 (12) 404 43 34

Telex: 142400 XALG Al

E-mail: mail@xalgbank.az

URL: www.xalgbank.az

Independent auditor:

BDO International

Branches: 12
Retail divisions: 2
Staff: 383

Key financial indicators:

Assets: AZN 632.184 min.
Loans: AZN 471.457 min.
Deposits: AZN 472.462 min.
Net profit: AZN13.496 min.

Shareholders capital:

AZN 72.828 min.

49






OPEN JOINT-STOCK COMPANY XALQ BANK

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2010




52

XALQ BANK
ILLIK HESABAT 2010 / ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Table of Contents

Consolidated Financial Statements

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities...................
Independent Auditors’ RePOIt...........ceeevriivieieeiiiiiiieeens
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position..................
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.................
Consolidated Statement Of CASN FIOWS .........uiiiiiiiii e e et e e e e et e e e s e bbb e e e e e s et e e e e e e anbaeeas

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

I b Yot e {018 o EP PP P PRSPPI
2. Basis of Presentation

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

4. NEL INTEIEST INCOME ... et e e s s e e e s s et e e e e e s saa e e e s s s sarbe e e e e s aaens
5. Allowance FOr IMPAIMMENT LOSSES ....coiuuiiiiiieiiiiiiiee ettt e ettt e e e et e e e e oot bttt e e e e e bbb b et e e e anbbe e e e e e enbbeeeaeeananees
6. Net Gain/ (Loss) on Gold Operations

7.  Net Gain on Foreign EXChang@ OP@ratiONS. ........ccciiiuiiiiieeiiiiii ettt e et e et e e e s e bbb e e e e s abb e e e e e antreeeas
8. Fee and Commission INCOME @NA EXPENSE ........oiiiiiiiiiii ittt e e e e e e e e e e aatree s
9.  Operating Expenses

B0 L Toto] T F= (=1 SO PP
B Vg T To R T ] F= TP P PP PUPP TP
12. Cash and Cash Equivalents

13. Due from Banks.................

14. Loans to Customers
15. Investments Available-for-Sale
16. Premises, Equipment and INTANGIDIE ASSELS .....cciiiiiiiiiiiei it e e e e e e e e
17. Investment Properties

L8, OB ASSEES ...ttt E et e et e e e e e e
19. Due to Banks and GOVEINMENT AQENCIES. .......uutiiiiiiiiiite ettt e e e ettt e e e e ettt e e e e et et e e e e e e bbb et e e e e abb e et e e e aannbeeeaeeaanereeeas
20. Customer Accounts

P O (o= g I =T o] 11 =2 PP PP PPRPPPRRPRII
DA | 1 F= T (= 02 o] - | PP PO PPRT PP
23. Financial Commitments and Contingencies

24, Subsequent EVeNnts ...........ccccccovivienenn.

25. Transactions with Related Parties

b TS T=To 00 1T o1 =T o To T4 1] Vo TP UP PR PP
27. Fair Value of FINancial INSIUMENTS ..........uiiiiiiiiiie et e e e e e e e s anne e
28. Regulatory Matters

A B O o1 vl Y= T F=To [T 41T o TP P PP P PR PP
30.  RISK MANAGEMENT PONICIES ...ttt oot e e ettt e e oo ot bttt e e e e ab b b et e e e e st e e e e e e e nbe e e e e anbaeeas



Statement of Management’s Responsibilities for the Preparation and Approval of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2010

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditors’ responsibilities stated
in the independent auditors’ report set out on pages 2-3, is made with a view to distinguishing the respective
responsibilities of management and those of the independent auditors in relation to the consolidated financial
statements of Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly the
financial position of the Group at 31 December 2010, and the results of its operations, cash flows and changes in
equity for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

Selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;
Making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
Stating whether IFRS have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the consolidated
financial statements; and

° Preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

° Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls, throughout
the Group;
° Maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial

position of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group comply with IFRS;

Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan;
Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
Detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 were authorized for issue on
20 February 2011 by the Management Board.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank:

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock
Company Xalqg Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010 and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010 and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.




IBDO

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank as at 31 December 2010, and its

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

“BDO” JSC
Certified Auditors Commercial Company

Licence No.11 )

D.Tunsts [/ = \ A.Putnins

International Liaison-Partner, | . The responsible certified auditor

12 ‘ Il Certificate No. 123

Riga, Latvia
20 February 2011
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalg Bank

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2010 (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Notes Year ended Year ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Interest income 4 47,385,669 37,369,613
Interest expense 4 (22,280,750) (17,355,773)
NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON INTEREST BEARING 25,104,919 20,013,840
ASSETS
(Prpwsmn) / recovery of provision for impairment losses 5 (3.986,677) 2.081,845
on interest bearing assets
NET INTEREST INCOME 21,118,242 22,995,685
Net gain on foreign exchange operations 7 772,932 341,257
Net gain / (loss) on gold operations 6 1,371,437 (23,475)
Fee and commission income 8 2,934,315 3,095,184
Fee and commission expense 8 (273,095) (344,777)
Gain / (loss) on revaluation of investment property 17 200,352 (106,292)
Other income 633,914 69,442
NET NON-INTEREST INCOME 5,639,855 3,031,339
OPERATING INCOME 26,758,097 26,027,024
OPERATING EXPENSES 9 (12,592,313) (9,097,983)
OPERATING PROFIT 14,165,784 16,929,041
Recovery of provision for impairment losses on
i - 137,424
guarantees and other commitments
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 14,165,784 17,066,465
Income tax (expense) / benefit 10 (669,345) 169,947
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13,496,439 17,236,412
Other comprehensive income - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 13,496,439 17,236,412
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 13,484,070 17,239,984
Non-controlling interest 12,369 (3,572)
13,496,439 17,236,412
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted (AZN) 11 6.295 8.049

Approved for issue and si

j on behalf of the Management Board on 20 February 20477

Acting\ChiefAccolfitant
‘ Cim. Mrs. 'Tamnlla Asadova
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2010 (in Azerbaijan Manats)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Gold
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments available-for-sale
Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets
Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Due to banks and government agencies
Customer accounts
Current income tax liability
Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Share capital
Retained earnings
Non-controlling interest

TOTAL EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Approved for issue and si

Notes 31 December 2010 31 December 2009
12 126,229,976 18,298,937
8,642,082 5,230,000

13 3,142,161 3,166,674
14 471,456,772 443,197,140
15 1,202,449 42,633
16 12,834,687 8,663,620
17 6,132,246 5,931,894
16 640,382 333,823
10 90,944 222,790
18 1,812,126 2,755,110
632,183,825 487,842,621

19 67,745,113 106,348,730
20 472,461,571 304,375,060
532,996 -

21 4,207,846 1,507,012
544,947,526 412,230,802

22 72,828,000 53,550,000
14,244,058 21,909,947

164,241 151,872

87,236,299 75,611,819

632,183,825 487,842,621

d on behalf of the Management Board on 20 February 20

Acﬂng Ch’bf/Acco&ﬁtant
Mrs Tamnlla Asadova
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 December 2010 (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Share capital

31 December 2008 53,550,000

Total comprehensive income for the year -

31 December 2009 53,550,000

Capitalization of net profit for the year
2009 to share capital 19,278,000

Tax on capitalized profit of 2009 -

Total comprehensive income for the year -

31 December 2010 172,828,000

Approved for issue and si

d on behalf of the Management Board on 20 February 20

Non-
Retained earnings / controlling
(Accumulated deficit) interest Total equity
4,669,963 155,444 58,375,407

— 17239984 _ (3572) 17236412

21,909,947 151,872 75,611,819
(19,278,000) ; ;
(1,871,959) - (1,871,959)

13484070 ___ 12369  __ 13,496,439

_ 14244058 __ 164241 _ 87,236,299

i

Chairman 2
Mr. Asim Mammagdl;

|

’ Admg‘.phbef//\cco&ﬁt‘ént
o &9 Mrs,lT;milla Asadova

58 The accompanying notes on pages 61 to 102 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2010 (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: Notes December 2010 December 2009
Profit before income tax 14,165,784 17,066,465

Adjustments for:

Provision / (recovery of provision) for impairment
losses on interest bearing assets 5 3,986,677 (2,981,845)

Recovery of provision for guarantees and other

commitments ) (137,424)
Net unrealized (gain) / loss arising from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates (249,723) 415,429
Depreciation and amortization 16 1,678,239 1,291,966
(Gain) / loss on revaluation of investment property 17 (200,352) 106,292
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (237,017) (70)
Change in interest accruals, net (1,180,047) (946,793)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 17,963,561 14,814,020
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets:
Minimum reserve deposit with the Central Bank of
Azerbaijan Republic (364,211) 13,813,742
Gold (3,412,082) (3,847,718)
Due from banks (535,582) 6,507,257
Loans to customers (30,814,843) (103,350,292)
Other assets 953,442 (1,860,191)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:
Due to banks and government agencies (38,688,100) 99,631,251
Customer accounts 167,895,696 (12,397,149)
Other liabilities 828,875 305,826
Cash inflow from operating activities before taxation 113,826,756 13,616,746
Income tax paid (4,503) (41,201)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 113,822,253 13,575,545
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, equipment and intangible assets 16 (6,859,314) (3,625,401)
Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 940,466 201
Purchase of investments available-for-sale (1,146,785) (47)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (7,065,633) (3,625,247)

The accompanying notes on pages 61 to 102 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalqg Bank

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
Notes December 2010 December 2009
nggic\:/ta?érzgsreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash 249,723 (415,429)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 107,006,343 9,534,869
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 19,762,687 10,227,818
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year 12 126,769,030 19,762,687

Interest paid and received by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2010 amounted
to AZN 22,005,452 and AZN 45,930,324, respectively.

Interest paid and received by the Group in cash during the year ended 31 December 2009 amounted
to AZN 17,649,073 and AZN 36,714,959, respectively.

Approved for issue and si

i on behalf of the Management Board on 20 February 201/

T1E/ " Acting ChiefAccolftant

Chairman IV 1A ‘
i/ ‘ M‘r_s.?']‘gmilla Asadova

Mr. Asim Mam?n

The accompanying notes on pages 61 to 102 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (in Azerbaijan Manats)

1. Background

Xalg Bank is a joint stock company which was established on 24 December 2004 in accordance with establishment
agreement and was registered by the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic on 27 December 2004. The address
of its registered office is 1145 Babek Avenue, Baku, AZ 1025, Azerbaijan. The Bank is regulated by the Central
Bank of Azerbaijan Republic (the “CBAR”) and conducts its business under the general banking license number
246. The Bank had 12 branches in Azerbaijan as at 31 December 2010. The Bank’s primary business consists of
commercial activities, trading with foreign currencies, originating loans and guarantees.

The number of employees of the Bank at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was 384 and 315, respectively.

The Bank is a parent company of a banking group (the “Group”) which consists of the following enterprises
consolidated in the financial statements:

The Bank ownership
interest/ voting rights

Name Country of operation 2010 2009 Type of operation
Xalg Kapital LLC The Republic of Azerbaijan 100 % 100% Securities market transactions
%%Iéiéyaqqabi -2 The Republic of Azerbaijan 97.27% 97.27% Dormant

“Xalg Kapital” LLC is a limited liability company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan on 17 August 2007. The
company’s principal activity is operations with securities, broker and dealer operations.

“Baki Ayaggabi -2” OJSC is a Joint Stock Company registered in the Republic of Azerbaijan in December 1980.
The Company’s principal activity had been the manufacture of footwear. The Company has not been functioning
since June 1999. The Group has acquired the controlling interest in the Company’s capital with the primary
purpose of using it as investment property. The Group’s management is still uncertain of the detailed plans
regarding the Company.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 the following shareholders owned the issued shares of the Bank:

31 December 31 December
2010 2009
Ownership Ownership
interest, % interest, %
Ideal Biznes Ko LLC 50.00 50.00
Yevro Standart LLC 33.85 33.85
Avangard-1 LLC 16.15 16.15
Total 100 100

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is L.Aliyeva.

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Management Board on 20 February
2011.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

2. Basis of Presentation
Accounting basis

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Azerbaijan Manats (“AZN”) unless otherwise indicated.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
measurement at fair value of certain financial instruments and measurement of investment property at revalued
amounts according to International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) No. 40 “Investment Property”.

The Group maintains its accounting records in accordance with Azerbaijan law. These consolidated financial
statements have been prepared based on the Azerbaijani statutory accounting records and have been adjusted
to conform with IFRS. These adjustments include certain reclassifications to reflect the economic substance
of underlying transactions including reclassifications of certain assets and liabilities, income and expenses to
appropriate financial statement captions.

Key assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Such estimates and assumptions are based on
the information available to the Group’s management as of the date of the consolidated financial statements.
Therefore, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Estimates that are particularly
susceptible to change relate to the provisions for impairment losses and the fair value of financial instruments.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial period include:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Loans to customers 471,456,772 443,197,140
Investments available for sale 1,202,449 42,633
Property and equipment 12,834,687 8,663,620
Investment Property 6,132,246 5,931,894

Loans to customers are measured at amortized cost less allowance for impairment losses. The estimation of
allowances for impairments involves the exercise of significant judgment. The Group estimates allowances for
impairment with the objective of maintaining balance sheet provisions at a level believed by management to be
sufficient to absorb losses incurred in the Bank’s loan portfolio. The calculation of provisions on impaired loans is
based on the likelihood of the asset being written off and the estimated loss on such a write-off. These assessments
are made using statistical techniques based on historic experience. These determinations are supplemented by
the application of management judgment.



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

The Group considers accounting estimates related to provisions for loans key sources of estimation uncertainty
because: (i) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period as the assumptions about future default
rates and valuation of losses relating to impaired loans and advances are based on recent performance experience,
and (ii) any significant difference between the Group’s estimated losses (as reflected in the provisions) and actual
losses will require the Group to take provisions which, if significantly different, could have a material impact on its
future income statement and its statement of financial position. The Group’s assumptions about estimated losses
are based on past performance, past customer behavior, the credit quality of recent underwritten business and
general economic conditions, which are not necessarily an indication of future losses.

Investments available-for-sale are measured at fair value less impairment losses. The estimation of impairment
losses involves the exercise of significant management judgment. The accounting policy for the impairment of
financial instruments is discussed in Note 3 below.

Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects the
economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (the “functional currency”).
The reporting currency of the financial statements is the Azerbaijan Manats (“AZN”).

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities controlled by
the Bank (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Bank has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

On acquisition, the assets and liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values
at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recognized as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable
net assets acquired (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited to the consolidated income statement in the period of
acquisition. The minority interest is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and liabilities
recognized. Subsequently, any losses applicable to the minority interest in excess of the minority interest are
allocated against the interests of the parent. The equity attributable to equity holders of the parent and net income
attributable to minority shareholders’ interests are shown separately in the consolidated statement of financial
position and income statement, respectively.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used
into line with those used by the Group.

All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The difference, if any, between the carrying amount of minority interest and the amount received on its purchase
is recognized in equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or
joint control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting.

Investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted
for goodwill and for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any
impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of the associates in excess of the Group’s interest in
those associates are not recognized.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the associate at the date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any
deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the Group’s share of the fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the associate at the date of acquisition (i.e. discount on acquisition) is credited in the
consolidated income statement in the period of acquisition.

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary
as at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognized as an asset at cost and is subsequently measure at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

If the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the
cost of the business combination, the Group:

(@) Reassesses the identification and measurement of the Group’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the combination; and
(b)  Recognizes immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment.

On disposal of an investment, the amount of goodwill attributable is included in the determination of financial
result from disposal.

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments

The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities on its consolidated statement of financial position when it
becomes a party to the contractual obligation of the instrument. Regular way purchase and sale of the financial
assets and liabilities are recognized using settlement date accounting. Regular way purchases of financial
instruments that will be subsequently measured at fair value between trade date and settlement date are accounted
for in the same way as for acquired instruments.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial
liability not at fair value through profit or loss transaction costs that are directly attributable to acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability. The accounting policies for subsequent re-measurement of these items
are disclosed in the respective accounting policies set out below.



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent and time deposit
accounts with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic with original maturity within 90 days, advances to banks in
countries included in the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”). For the purposes
of determining cash flows, the minimum reserve deposit required by the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic is
not included as a cash equivalent due to restrictions on its availability (Note 12).

Gold

Assets and liabilities denominated in gold are translated at the current rate computed based on the Central Bank
rate effective at the date. Changes in the bid prices are recorded in net gain on operations with gold.

Fiduciary activities

The Group provides depositary services to its customers which include transactions with securities on their
depositary accounts. Assets accepted and liabilities incurred under the fiduciary activities are not included in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The Group accepts operational risks relating to these activities,
whereas the Group’s customers bear the credit and market risks associated with such operations.

Due from banks

In the normal course of business, the Group maintains advances and deposits for various periods of time with
other banks. Due from banks with a fixed maturity term are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, and are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses. Those that do not have fixed
maturities are stated at amortized cost based on expected dates of maturity. Amounts due from credit institutions
are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses.

Loans to customers

Loans to customers are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market other than those classified in other categories of financial assets.

Loans to customers granted by the Group with fixed maturities are initially recognized at fair value plus related
transaction costs, directly attributable to the acquisition or creation of qualifying financial assets. Where the fair
value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the loan, for example where the loan is issued at
lower than market rates, the difference between the fair value of consideration given and the fair value of the
loan is recognized as a loss on initial recognition of the loan and included in the consolidated income statement
according to nature of these losses. Subsequently, loans are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method. Loans to customers are carried net of any allowance for impairment losses.

The Group will take possession of any collateral held as security when a customer defaults on repayments of the
loan and the loan cannot be renegotiated. The Group will engage a third party to dispose of the collateral on their
behalf in the open market.

Factoring Assets

Factoring assets are non-derivative assets with determinable payments. These assets are initially recognized at
fair value and any costs directly related to creation of qualifying financial assets.

Where the fair value of consideration given does not equal the fair value of the factoring asset the difference
between the fair value of consideration given and the fair value of the asset is recognized as a loss on initial
recognition of the asset and included in the consolidated income statement according to nature of these losses.
Subsequently, factoring assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method and are carried
net of any allowance for impairment losses.
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Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Write-off of loans and advances

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are reflected as an offset to the charge for impairment of
financial assets in the consolidated income statement in the period of recovery.

Allowance for impairment losses
Assets carried at amortized cost

The Group accounts for impairment losses of financial assets that are not carried at fair value when there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. The impairment losses are
measured as the difference between carrying amounts and the present value of expected future cash flows,
including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. Such impairment losses are not reversed unless if in a subsequent period the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, such as recoveries, in which case the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by
adjusting an allowance account.

For financial assets carried at cost the impairment losses are measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, a consolidated amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortization) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized
in the consolidated income statement, is transferred from equity to the consolidated income statement. Reversals
of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognized in the
consolidated income statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the
consolidated income statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss were recognized in the consolidated income statement.

The determination of impairment losses is based on an analysis of the risk assets and reflects the amount which,
in the judgment of management, is adequate to provide for losses incurred. Provisions are made as a result of an
individual appraisal of risk assets for financial assets that are individually significant, and an individual or collective
assessment for financial assets that are not individually significant.

The change in impairment losses is charged to profit either through allowance account (financial assets that are
carried at amortized cost) or direct write-off (financial assets carried at cost). The total of the impairment losses is
deducted in arriving at assets as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Factors that the Group
considers in determining whether it has objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred include
information about the debtors’ or issuers’ liquidity, solvency and business and financial risk exposures, levels of
and trends in delinquencies for similar financial assets, national and local economic trends and conditions, and
the fair value of collateral and guarantees. These and other factors may, either individually or taken together,
provide sufficient objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred in a financial asset or group of
financial assets.

It should be understood that estimates of losses involve an exercise of judgment. While it is possible that in
particular periods the Group may sustain losses which are substantial relative for impairment losses, it is the
judgment of management that the impairment losses are adequate to absorb losses incurred on risk assets, at
the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Investments available-for-sale

Investments available-for-sale represent debt and equity investments that are intended to be held for an indefinite
period of time. Such securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequently the securities are measured at fair
value, with such re-measurement recognized directly in equity until sold when gain/loss previously recorded in
equity recycles through the consolidated income statement, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains
or losses and interest income accrued using the effective interest method, which are recognized directly in the
consolidated income statement. The Group uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value for the Group’s
investments available-for-sale. If the market for investments is not active, the Group establishes fair value by
using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions between
knowledgeable, willing parties, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis and other applicable methods. If there is a valuation technique commonly
used by market participants to price the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable
estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions, the Group uses that technique. Dividends received are
included in dividend income in the consolidated income statement.

Non-marketable debt and equity securities are stated at amortized cost and cost, respectively, less impairment
losses, if any, unless fair value can be reliably measured.

When there is objective evidence that such securities have been impaired, the cumulative loss previously
recognized in equity is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated income statement for the period.
Reversals of such impairment losses on debt instruments, which are objectively related to events occurring after
the impairment, are recognized in the consolidated income statement for the period. Reversals of such impairment
losses on equity instruments are not recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

Investment property comprises land or buildings, which are held in order to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both, and which are not occupied by the companies in the Group or otherwise held for sale. Property held
under operating lease is classified as investment property if, and only if, it meets the definition of an investment
property. Investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the property. If this information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as discounted cash flow projections. Changes in the fair value
of investment property are recorded in the income statement.
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Premises, equipment and intangible assets

Property, equipment and intangible assets are carried at historical cost (except for buildings, which are stated
at revalued amounts) less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any recognized impairment loss.
Depreciation on assets under construction and those not placed in service commences from the date the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation of property, equipment and amortization of intangible assets is charged on their historical cost and is
designed to write off assets over their useful lives. It is calculated on a straight line basis at the following annual
rates:

Building 5%
Furniture and equipment 25%
Computers 25%
Vehicles 25%
Other equipment 20%
Intangible assets 10%

The carrying amounts of property, equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
assess whether they are recorded in excess of their recoverable amounts, and where the carrying values exceed
the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts. Impairment is
recognized in the respective period and is included in operating expenses. After the recognition of an impairment
loss the depreciation charge for property and equipment is adjusted in future periods to allocate the assets’
revised carrying value, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Land and buildings held for use in supply of services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, determined
from market-based evidence by appraisal undertaken by professional independent valuers, less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with
sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount of the assets does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using fair values at the reporting date.

Market value of property is assessed using three methods:

° The comparable sales method which involves analysis of market sales prices for similar real estate
property;

° The income-based method which assumes a direct relationship between revenues generated by the
property and its market value;

° The cost method which presumes the value of property to be equal to its recoverable amount less any

depreciation charges.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of property is credited to the property, plant and equipment
and equipment revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same
asset previously recognized as an expense in the consolidated income statement, in which case the increase is
credited to the consolidated income statements to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in
carrying amount of an asset arising on the revaluation is charged as an expense to the income statement to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve relating to
a previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation on revalued buildings is charged to the consolidated income statement. Upon the retirement or sale
of buildings, the attributable revaluation surplus is transferred to retained earnings.
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Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax expense for the current period is
determined on the basis of the taxable profit received in the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax expense is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted during the reporting period.

Deferred tax is reported using the balance sheet liability method and represents income tax assets and liabilities
on the temporary difference between the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the respective tax accounting
data used to arrive at the taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the respective deferred tax assets can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in transactions that affect neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only
recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that a related tax benefit will be realized sufficient for full or partial recovery of the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset by the Group with the resulting difference reported in the financial
statements if:

o The Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the current tax assets and current tax liabilities; and
o Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on
the same taxpayer.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except when it relates
to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Due to banks and customer accounts
Due to banks and customer accounts are initially recognized at fair value. Subsequently amounts due are stated

at amortized cost and any difference between carrying and redemption value is recognized in the consolidated
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position but are disclosed unless the
possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated statement
of financial position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Financial guarantee contracts issued

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are credit insurance that provides for specified payments to be
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due under
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantee contracts issued are initially recognized
at fair value. Subsequently they are measured at the higher of (a) the amount recognized as a provision and (b) the
amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, cumulative amortization of initial premium revenue received over
the financial guarantee contracts issued.

Share capital
Share capital is recognized at cost.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized in equity as a reduction in the period in which they are declared. Dividends
that are declared after the reporting date are treated as a subsequent event under International Accounting Standard
10 “Events after the reporting period” (“IAS 10”) and disclosed accordingly.

Retirement and other benefit obligations

In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan, the Group withholds amounts of
pension contributions from employee salaries and pays them to the state pension fund. Such expense is charged in the
period the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement all retirement benefit payments are made by the state pension
fund. The Group does not have any pension arrangements separate from the state pension system of Azerbaijan,
which requires current contributions by employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments. In
addition, the Group has no post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual.

Recognition of income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis using effective interest method. The effective interest
method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability (or group of financial
assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down (partly written down) as a result of
an impairment loss, interest income is thereafter recognized using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Interests earned on assets at fair value are classified within interest income.

Loan origination fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate of the loan. Where itis probable that a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending arrangement,
the loan commitment fees are deferred, together with the related direct costs, and recognized as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate of the resulting loan. Where it is unlikely that a loan commitment will lead to a specific lending
arrangement, the loan commitment fees are recognized in the consolidated income statement over the remaining
period of the loan commitment. Where a loan commitment expires without resulting in a loan, the loan commitment
fee is recognized in the consolidated income statement on expiry. Loan servicing fees are recognized as revenue as
the services are provided. All other commissions are recognized when services are provided.
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Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Azerbaijan Manats at the
appropriate spot rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Profits and losses arising from these translations are included
in net gain on foreign exchange operations.

Rates of exchange

The exchange rates at the yearend used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are
as follows:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

USD 1 =AZN 0.7979 USD 1 =AZN 0.8031
EUR 1 =AZN 1.0560 EUR 1 =AZN 1.1499
GBP 1 =AZN 1.2377 GBP 1 =AZN 1.2759
RUR 1 =AZN 0.0263 RUR 1 =AZN 0.0266

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment) or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments. Segments with a
majority of revenue earned from sales to external customers and whose, revenue, results are ten per cent or more
of all the segments are reported separately. No geographical segments of the Group have been reported separately
within these consolidated financial statements as all operations are conducted within Azerbaijan.

Offset of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net on the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that
does not qualify for derecognition, the Group does not offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.

Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations
and new accounting pronouncements

Certain new IFRSs became effective for the Group from 1 January 2010. Listed below are those new or
amended standards or interpretations which are relevant to the Group’s operations and the nature of their
impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

IFRS 1 and IAS 27, ‘Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, jointly-controlled entity or associate’ (Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009) - The amended standard allows first-time adopters to use a deemed cost of either fair
value or the carrying amount under previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost of investments in subsidiaries,
jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate financial statements. The amendment also removes the definition of
the cost method from IAS 27 and requires an entity to present dividends from investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities and associates as income in the separate financial statements of the investor.

IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009) - The revised standard
continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, with some significant changes. For example, all
payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified
as debt subsequently re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice, on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group applied IFRS 3 (revised)
prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January 2010.
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IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement — Eligible hedged items’ (Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009) - The amendment ‘Eligible hedged items’ was issued in July 2008. It
provides guidance for two situations. On the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, IAS 39 concludes
that a purchased option designated in its entirety as the hedging instrument of a one-sided risk will not be perfectly
effective. The designation of inflation as a hedged risk or portion is not permitted unless in particular situations.
This will not give rise to any changes to the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 17, ‘Distribution to non-cash assets to owners’ (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009) - FRIC 17 was issued in November 2008. It addresses how the non-cash dividends distributed to the
shareholders should be measured. A dividend obligation is recognized when the dividend was authorised by the
appropriate entity and is no longer at the discretion of the entity. This dividend obligation should be recognised
at the fair value of the net assets to be distributed. The difference between the dividend paid and the amount
carried forward of the net assets distributed should be recognised in profit and loss Additional disclosures are to
be made if the net assets being held for distribution to owners meet the definition of a discontinued operation. The
application of IFRIC 17 has no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009) - The revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in
equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses.
The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost; any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured
to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply IAS 27 (revised) prospectively
to transactions with non-controlling interests from 1 January 2010. In the future, this guidance will also tend to
produce higher volatility in equity and/or earnings in connection with the acquisition of interests by the Group.

Certain new standards and interpretations have been published that become effective for the accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 or later periods and which are relevant to the Group but not
early adopted by the Group.

IAS 24 “Related party disclosures” (Revised) The revised IAS 24, issued in November 2009, simplifies the disclosure
requirements for government-related entities and clarifies the definition of a related party. Previously, an entity
controlled or significantly influenced by a government was required to disclose information about all transactions
with other entities controlled or significantly influenced by the same government. The revised standard requires
disclosure about these transactions only if they are individually or collectively significant. The revised IAS 24 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011, with earlier application permitted.

Amendments to IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Presentation”: Classification of Rights Issues” In October 2009, the
IASB issued amendment to IAS 32. Entities shall apply that amendment for annual periods beginning on or after
1 February 2010. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment alters the definition of a financial liability in IAS
32 to classify rights issues and certain options or warrants as equity instruments. This is applicable if the rights
are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative equity instruments,
in order to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any currency.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” In November 2009 the IASB issued the first phase of IFRS 9 Financial instruments.
This Standard will eventually replace IAS 39 Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9
becomes effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Entities may adopt the first phase for
reporting periods ending on or after 31 December 2009. The first phase of IFRS 9 introduces new requirements on
classification and measurement of financial assets. In particular, for subsequent measurement all financial assets
are to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss with the irrevocable option for equity
instruments not held for trading to be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

IFRIC 14 Amendment - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction was developed by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee and issued by the International Accounting Standards Board in July 2007. IFRIC 14
and its accompanying documents have been amended by Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
(issued November 2009).
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IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments” IFRIC Interpretation 19 was issued in
November 2009 and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The interpretation clarifies the
accounting when the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and result in the entity issuing equity instruments
to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the financial liability.

Improvements to IFRSs In May 2010 the IASB issued the third omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily
with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. Most of the amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard.
Amendments included in May 2010 “Improvements to IFRS” will have impact on the accounting policies, financial
position or performance of the Group, as described below.

° IFRS 3 Business combinations: limits the scope of the measurement choices that only the components of
NCI that are present ownership interests that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets, in the event of liquidation, shall be measured either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. As the amendment should
be applied from the date the Group applies IFRS 3 Revised, it may be required to restate for effects
incurred under IFRS 3 Revised, but before the adoption of this amendment. The Group expects that other
amendments to IFRS 3 will have no impact on financial statements of the Group.

° IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures; introduces the amendments to quantitative and credit risk
disclosures. The additional requirements are expected to have minor impact as information is expected
to be readily available.

° IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: adds disclosure requirements about the circumstances affecting fair
values and classification of financial instruments, about transfers of financial instruments between levels
of the fair value hierarchy, changes in classification of financial assets and changes in contingent liabilities
and assets.

Described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect the Group’s
financial statements.

Areas of significant management judgment and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amount of income and
expenses during the period ended. Management evaluates its estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis.
Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. The following estimates and judgments are considered important to the portrayal of
the Group’s financial condition.

Allowance for impairment of loans and receivables

The Group regularly reviews its loans and receivables to assess for impairment. The Group’s loan impairment
provisions are established to recognize incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans and receivables.
The Group considers accounting estimates related to allowance for impairment of loans and receivables a key
source of estimation uncertainty because (i) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period as the
assumptions about future default rates and valuation of potential losses relating to impaired loans and receivables
are based on recent performance experience, and (ii) any significant difference between the Group’s estimated
losses and actual losses would require the Group to record provisions which could have a material impact on its
financial statements in future periods.
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The Group uses management’s judgment to estimate the amount of any impairment loss in cases where a
borrower has financial difficulties and there are few available sources of historical data relating to similar borrowers.
Similarly, the Group estimates changes in future cash flows based on past performance, past customer behavior,
observable data indicating an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a group, and national or local
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on
historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to
those in the group of loans and receivables. The Group uses management’s judgment to adjust observable data
for a group of loans or receivables to reflect current circumstances not reflected in historical data.

The allowances for impairment of financial assets in the consolidated financial statements have been determined
on the basis of existing economic and political conditions. The Group is not in a position to predict what changes in
conditions will take place in the Republic of Azerbaijan and what effect such changes might have on the adequacy
of the allowances for impairment of financial assets in future periods.

The carrying amount of the allowance for impairment of loans to customers is AZN 26,511,641 and AZN 22,556,144
as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

Valuation of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments that are classified as available for sale. The fair value of such financial instruments is the
estimated amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. If a quoted market price is available for an instrument, the fair value is
calculated based on the market price. When valuation parameters are not observable in the market or cannot
be derived from observable market prices, the fair value is derived through analysis of other observable market
data appropriate for each product and pricing models which use a mathematical methodology based on accepted
financial theories. Pricing models take into account the contract terms of the securities as well as market-based
valuation parameters, such as interest rates, volatility, exchange rates and the credit rating of the counterparty.
Where market-based valuation parameters are not directly observable, management will make a judgment as
to its best estimate of that parameter in order to determine a reasonable reflection of how the market would
be expected to price the instrument. In exercising this judgment, a variety of tools are used including proxy
observable data, historical data, and extrapolation techniques. The best evidence of fair value of a financial
instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the instrument is evidenced by comparison with
data from observable markets. Any difference between the transaction price and the value based on a valuation
technique is not recognized in the consolidated income statement on initial recognition. Subsequent gains or
losses are only recognized to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor that market participants would
consider in setting a price.

The Group considers that the accounting estimate related to valuation of financial instruments where quoted
markets prices are not available is a key source of estimation uncertainty because: (i) it is highly susceptible
to change from period to period because it requires management to make assumptions about interest rates,
volatility, exchange rates, the credit rating of the counterparty, valuation adjustments and specific feature of the
transactions and (ii) the impact that recognizing a change in the valuations would have on the assets reported on
its consolidated statement of financial position as well as its profit/(loss) could be material.

Had management used different assumptions regarding the interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, the credit
rating of the counterparty and valuation adjustments, a larger or smaller change in the valuation of financial
instruments where quoted market prices are not available would have resulted that could have had a material
impact on the Group’s reported net income. The carrying amount of the financial instruments at fair value is as
follows as at 31 December 2010 and 2009:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Investments available-for-sale 1,202,449 42,633
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4. Net Interest Income

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Interest income comprises
interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost:
- mtere;t income on assets that have been written down as a result 40,430,363 29,419,035
of an impairment loss
- interest income on unimpaired assets 6,955,306 7,949,678
Total Interest income 47,385,669 37,369,613
Interest income on assets recorded at amortized cost comprises:
Interest on loans to customers 47,288,251 37,045,248
Interest on guarantees 73,305 183,077
Interest on debt securities 21,482 95,730
Interest on due from banks 2,631 45,558
Total interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost 47,385,669 37,369,613
Interest expense comprises:
Interest on customer accounts 20,166,948 16,771,339
Interest on due to banks and government agencies 2,113,802 584,434
Total interest expense on financial assets recorded at amortized cost 22,280,750 17,355,773
Net interest income before provision for impairment losses on 25.104,919 20,013,840

interest bearing assets

5. Allowance For Impairment Losses

The movements in allowance for impairment losses on interest earning assets were as follows:

Loans to customers

31 December 2008 25,542,526
Recovery of provision (2,981,845)
Write-off of assets (4,537)
31 December 2009 22,556,144
Additional provision 3,986,677
Write-off of assets (31,180)
31 December 2010 26,511,641
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6. Net Gain/(Loss) on Gold Operations

Net gain / (loss) on gold operations comprise:

Net loss on gold operations
Translation difference on gold

Total net gain / (loss) on gold operations

7. Net Gain on Foreign Exchange Operations

Net gain on foreign exchange operations comprise:

Dealing differences, net
Translation differences, net

Total net gain on foreign exchange operations

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

(313,563) (727,429)

1,685,000 703,954

1,371,437 (23,475)
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

523,209 756,686
249,723 (415,429)
772,932 341,257
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8. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

Fee and commission income and expense comprise:

Fee and commission income:

Cash operations

Settlements

Foreign exchange operations
Plastic cards operations
Guarantee letters

Letters of credit

Other

Total fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense:
Settlements

Plastic cards operations

Cash operations

Guarantee letters

Foreign exchange operations
Letters of credit

Other

Total fee and commission expense

9. Operating Expenses

Operating expenses comprise:

Staff costs
Depreciation and amortization

Payments to the Deposit Insurance Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan

Operating leases

Security expenses

Entertainment

Communications

Advertising and marketing expenses
Stationery expenses

Insurance

Utilities

Repairs and maintenance expenses
Transportation and business trip expenses
Professional services fees

Taxes, other than income tax

Loss on disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets
Membership fees

Other expenses

Total operating expenses

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

1,040,963 951,104
738,743 696,762
712,269 1,191,225
292,267 212,969
142,389 34,675

355 2,394
7,329 6,055

2,934,315 3,095,184
135,843 138,522
123,560 156,758

10,767 40,843
807 -
402 3,103
355 -
1,361 5,551
273,095 344,777
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

6,259,385 4,294,904
1,678,239 1,291,966
1,073,360 824,677
665,847 580,356
512,179 382,558
411,401 139,640
399,810 371,440
268,224 300,202
219,121 112,623
200,500 150,043
192,073 60,599
175,443 162,289
166,630 121,667
137,960 127,865
91,922 75,449
23,053 -
16,250 18,496
100,916 83,209
12,592,313 9.097,983
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10. Income Taxes

The Group provides for taxes based on the tax accounts maintained and prepared in accordance with the tax
regulations of countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate and which may differ from International
Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group is subject to certain permanent tax differences due to non-tax deductibility of certain expenses and a
tax free regime for certain income. The statutory income tax rate is 20%.

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

Temporary differences as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 relate mostly to different methods of income and
expense recognition as well as to recorded values of certain assets.

Temporary differences as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Deductible temporary differences:
Depreciation 421,765 971,421
Amortization 32,956 41,262
Total deductible temporary differences 454,721 1,012,683
Net deferred deductible temporary differences 454,721 1,012,683
Net deferred tax asset at the statutory tax rate (20%) 90,944 222,790
Net deferred tax asset 90,944 222,790

Relationships between tax expenses and accounting profit for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are
explained as follows:

Year ended Yesr ended

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Profit before income tax 14,165,784 17,066,465
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 20% (2009: 22%) 2,833,157 3,754,622
Tax effect of permanent differences 138,865 66,834
Effect of tax exemption in the result of capitalization of net profit _ (2,302,677) (3,991,403)
Income tax expense / (benefit) 669,345 (169,947)
Current income tax expense 537,499 -
Deferred income tax expense / (benefit) 131,846 (169,947)
Income tax expense / (benefit) 669,345 (169,947)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

On 14 November 2008, a new law “On Stimulation of Increasing the capitalization of Banks, Insurance and
Reinsurance companies” was enacted. According to the Law the profit tax rates for banks, insurance and
reinsurance companies is reduced to 0% for three fiscal years from 1 January 2009, where all profits are retained
within the business. The management of the Bank decided to take advantage of the new law in the year 2010
and capitalize the full amount of the Bank’s profit for the reporting year and part of the retained earnings as at 1
January 2010. The Bank’s management believes that the permanent taxable difference between financial and
tax results is fully covered by the amount of profit directed to capitalization and makes the Bank fully exempt from
the current income tax liability for the reporting year in accordance with the law. Taking into consideration that the
law will be in force for three year period, the management of the Bank estimated the deferred tax effect on the

temporary differences that are probable to realize subsequent to the 3 year period.

Deferred income tax assets
Beginning of the period

Change in the income tax assets for the period charged to profit
End of the period

11. Earnings Per Share

The earnings per share are calculated as follows:

Profit:
Net profit for the year

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings
per share

Earnings per share — basic and diluted (AZN)

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

222,790 52,843
(131,846) 169,947
90,944 222,790
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

13,484,070 17,239,984
2,142,000 2,142,000
6.295 8.049
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12. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Cash on hand 17,494,125 10,619,953
Balances with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic 108,735,851 7,678,984

Total cash and balances with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan

Republic 1262200976 18,298,937

The balances with the CBAR as at 31 December 2010 and 2009 include AZN 1,684,355 and AZN 1,320,144,
respectively, which represent the minimum reserve deposits required by the CBAR. The Bank is entitled to use

all funds on its correspondent account provided that average daily balance for 30 days period will be eventually
higher than required mandatory reserve.

Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan Republic 126,229,976 18,298,937
Due from banks in OECD countries 2,349,754 2,783,894
128,579,730 21,082,831
Less minimum reserve deposit with the Central Bank of Azerbaijan
Republic (1,684,355) (1,320,144)
Less restricted deposit in OECD countries (126,345) -
Total cash and cash equivalents 126,769,030 19,762,687
13. Due from Banks
Due from banks comprise:
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Correspondent accounts with other banks 2,499,469 3,125,716
Loans and time deposits with other banks 500,389 -
Restricted deposits 142,303 40,958
Total due from banks 3142161 3,166,674

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 the maximum credit risk exposure of due from banks amounted to AZN
3,142,161 and AZN 3,166,674, respectively.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 the Bank had restricted deposits blocked in support of guarantees issued and
plastic cards operations and money transfers totaling AZN 142,303 and AZN 40,958, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

14. Loans to Customers

Loans to customers comprise:

Loans to customers
Less allowance for impairment losses

Total loans to customers

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

497,968,413 465,753,284
— (26511641) __ (22,556,144)
471,456,772 443,197,140

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 accrued interest income included in loans to customers amounted to AZN

3,252,436 and AZN 1,820,969, respectively.

Movements in allowances for impairment losses for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are disclosed

in Note 5.

The table below summarizes the amount of loans secured by collateral, rather than the fair value of the collateral

itself:

Loans collateralized by equipment

Loans collateralized by real estate

Loans collateralized by guarantees

Loans collateralized by vehicles

Loans collateralized by cash

Loans collateralized by shares of other entities
Loans collateralized by tractors

Loans collateralized by inventories

Loans collateralized by other collateral
Unsecured loans

Less allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to customers

Analysis by industry

Transportation and communication
Construction

Energy

Individuals

Agriculture

Manufacturing

Trading

Other

Less allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to customers

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

167,003,120 129,429,082
155,961,012 95,879,122
53,972,168 2,198,462
18,544,925 14,846,786
5,151,932 1,098,542
2,182,801 1,013,577
1,681,862 1,730,146
76,173 30,422
203 184
93,394,217 219,526,96
497,968,413 465,753,284
(26,511,641) (22,556,144)
471,456,772 443,197,140

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

197,910,680 201,724,504
106,347,406 61,731,808
98,834,716 122,715,510
50,283,752 34,307,143
19,218,523 12,891,850
17,292,712 16,922,417
4,683,541 9,593,728
3,397,083 5,866,324
497,968,413 465,753,284
471,456,772 443,197,140
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Loans to individuals comprise the following products:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Consumer loans 20,021,269 18,301,011
Mortgage loans 16,464,615 10,450,612
Car loans 7,320,666 2,598,161
Business loans 5,683,415 2,490,386
Plastic cards 793,787 466,973
50,283,752 34,307,143

Less allowance for impairment losses (3,472,130) — (2,613,699)
Total loans to customers 46,811,622 31,693,444

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 the Bank granted 11 and 11 loans totaling AZN 368,219,354 and AZN
381,585,983, respectively, which individually exceeded 10% of the Group’s equity.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 the maximum credit risk exposure of loans to customers amounted to AZN
471,456,772 and AZN 443,197,140, respectively.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 60,183,649 and AZN
12,957,609, respectively, whose terms have been renegotiated. Otherwise these loans would be past due or
impaired.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 loans to customers included loans in amount of AZN 396,458,925 and AZN
345,933,555, respectively, that were individually determined to be impaired.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 71% and 73% of total amount of loans to customers are given to 9 and 6
entities, respectively.

A significant amount of loans (100% of loans to customers) is granted to companies operating in the Republic of
Azerbaijan, which represents significant geographical concentration in one region.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

15. Investments Available-for-Sale

Investments available-for-sale comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Equity securities 177,418 42,633
Debt securities 1,025,031 -
Total investments available-for-sale 1,202,449 42,633

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 accrued interest income included in investments available for sale amounted
to AZN 13,031 and nil, respectively.

Equity securities Share 31 December 2010 Share 31 December 2009
% %

Baku Stock Exchange 5 135,000 - -

Millikart LTD 1 40,000 1 40,000

SWIFT SCRL 2,418 2,633
Total equity securities 177,418 42,633

Nominal Nominal
Debt securities interest rate 31 December 2010 Interest rate 31 December 2009
Notes issued by Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund 3.25 1,025,031 - -

Total debt securities 1,025,031 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

17. Investment Properties

Investment properties comprise:
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Investment property at fair value at beginning of the year 5,931,894 6,038,186
Fair value gains / (loss) 200,352 (106,292)
Investment properties at end of the year 6,132,246 5,931,894

Details of valuation of investment property:

The Group holds its investment property for the purposes of capital appreciation and possible future rental out
to third parties. The fair value of investment property as at 31 December 2010 was determined on 29 December
2010 by AIS Azintellektservice, who holds a recognized professional qualification. The basis used for the appraisal

was market value.

18. Other Assets

Other assets comprise:

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

Deferred expenses 613,639 304,450
Settlements on money transfers 601,953 11,199
Prepayments for purchase of property and equipment 289,179 1,608,972
Prepayments and receivables on other transactions 229,168 511,511
Prepaid operating taxes 43,883 238,952
Prepayments for purchases of intangible assets 22,685 78,866
Accrued interests on letters of credit - -
Accrued interest on other operations 11,619 1,160

Total other assets 1,812,126 2,755,110

19. Due to Banks and Government Agencies

Due to banks and government agencies comprise:

31 December 2010

31 December 2009

Loans from the CBAR 25,851,111 16,000,583
Amount due to the National Fund for Support of Entrepreneurship 22,477,517 16,415,668
Amount due to Azerbaijan Mortgage Fund 14,104,509 4,053,468
Correspondent accounts of other banks 4,006,959 2,012,018
Amount due to the National Depositary Center 1,305,017 904,050
Amount due to the Ministry of Finance of Azerbaijan - 65,007,222
Loans from banks - 1,955,721

Total due to banks and government agencies 67,745,113 106,348,730
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As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 accrued interest expense included in due to banks and government agencies
amounted to AZN 120,196 and AZN 35,713, respectively.

20. Customer Accounts
Customer accounts comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Time deposits 311,093,660 245,191,710
Repayable on demand 161367911 59,183,350

Total customer accounts 472,461,571 304,375,060

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 accrued interest expense included in customer accounts amounted to AZN
968,732 and AZN 777,917, respectively.

As at 31 December 2010 and 2009 customer accounts amounting to AZN 264,344,625 and AZN 206,258,059
were due to 9 and 7 customers representing a significant concentration, being approximately 56% and 68%,
respectively.

Individuals 270,870,622 205,018,849
Manufacturing 100,264,623 4,106,154
Trade 69,304,195 64,566,688
Insurance 25,966,988 22,978,405
Transport and communication 2,756,660 6,164,733
Energy 1,270,056 1,996
Agriculture 698,048 373,011
Construction 633,942 491,955
Other 696,437 673,269
Total customer accounts 472,461,571 304,375,060

31 December 2010

31 December 2009
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

21. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities comprise:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Taxes other than income tax 2,069,762 309,161
Settlements on money transfers and plastic cards 972,173 379,695
Payables to the Deposit Insurance Fund 308,045 205,394
Payables to the employees 296,446 256,080
Accrued expenses 214,666 159,540
Deferred revenue 185,134 60,244
Professional fees payable 56,720 51,562
Payables to the State Social Protection Fund 17,164 17,136
Other 87,736 68,200
Total other liabilities 4,207,846 1,507,012

22. Share Capital

As of 31 December 2010 and 2009 the Group’s shareholders’ authorized, issued and fully paid capital amounted
to AZN 72,828,000 and AZN 53,550,000, respectively and comprised 2,142,000 ordinary shares with a par value
of AZN 34 and AZN 25, respectively. Each share entitles one vote to the shareholder.

During 2010 par value of ordinary shares of the Group was increased by AZN 9.

23. Financial Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in order
to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not reflected
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit loss under contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit, in
the event of non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral or security prove valueless, is

represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments.

The Group’s uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet commitments
as it does for on-balance operations.

As at 31 Decemer 2010 Provision for losses on contingent liabilities was nil.
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As at 31 December 2010 and 2009, the nominal or contract amounts and the risk amounts were:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Nominal Risk Nominal Risk
Amount Weighted Amount Weighted
Amount Amount
Contingent liabilities and credit
commitments
Guarantees issued and similar
commitments 7,382,578 7,382,578 11,455,843 11,455,843
Commitments on credits and unused credit
lines _ 20,148,786  __ 10,074,393 _ 16,390,298  ___ 8,195,149
Total contingent liabilities and credit
commitments _ 27531364  _ 17456971 _27.846,141  _ 19,650,992

Capital commitments — The Group had no material commitments for capital expenditures outstanding as at 31
December 2010.

Legal proceedings - From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are
received from customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no material unaccrued losses will
be incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group is receiving claims from individual customers with respect to certain commissions withheld by the
Group for loan agreements service. Management is of the opinion that such claims would not have adverse
consequences for the Group, and is in the process of establishing procedures on disclosing additional information
in loan agreements in compliance with the CBAR instruction.

Taxes - Azerbaijan commercial legislation and tax legislation in particular may give rise to varying interpretations
and amendments. In addition, as management’s interpretation of tax legislation may differ from that of the tax
authorities, transactions may be challenged by the tax authorities, and as a result the Group may be assessed
additional taxes, penalties and interest. Tax years remain open to review by the tax authorities for three years.
Management believes that the Group has already made all tax payments that are due, and therefore no provisions
have been made in these consolidated financial statements for any potential liabilities.

Pensions and retirement plans - Employees receive pension benefits from the Republic of Azerbaijan in
accordance with the laws and regulations of the country. As at 31 December 2010 the Group was not liable for
any supplementary pensions, post-retirement health care, insurance benefits, or retirement indemnities to its
current or former employees.

Operating environment - The Group’s principal business activities are within Azerbaijan. Laws and regulations

affecting the business environment in Azerbaijan are subject to rapid changes and the Group’s assets and
operations could be at risk due to negative changes in the political and business environment.

24. Subsequent Events

On January 2011 the Group has opened one branch in Qazakh. This branch is regulated by the permission of the
Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan.
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25. Transactions with Related Parties

Related parties or transactions with related parties in the Group, as defined by IAS 24 “Related party disclosures”,
represent:

(@)

(b)

(©
(d)
(e)

Parties that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries: control, or are controlled by, or are
under common control with, the Group (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries); have
an interest in the Group that gives then significant influence over the Group; and that have joint control
over the Group;

Associates — enterprises in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint venture of the investor;

Members of key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

Close members of the family of any individuals referred to in (a) or (c);

Parties that are entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which significant
voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (c) or (d).

In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship,
and not merely the legal form. The Group had the following transactions outstanding as at 31 December 2010 and
2009 with related parties:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Related Total Related Total
party category as party category as
transactions  per financial transactions per financial
statements statements
caption caption
Loans to customers 497,968,413 465,753,285
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 7,000,000 6,000,000
- key management personnel of the entity 195,730 387,960
Allowance for impairment losses (26,511,641) (22,556,144)
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group (140,000) (120,000)
- key management personnel of the entity (3,915) (7,759)
Customer accounts 472,461,571 304,375,060
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 83,958,556 77,286,233
- key management personnel of the entity - 175,646
Guarantees issued 7,382,578 11,455,843
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 2,275 20,000
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 2010 31 December 2009

Related Total Related Total
party category as party category as
transactions per financial transactions per financial
statements statements

caption caption
Key management personnel compensation:

short-term employee benefits 413,156 6,259,385 387,500 4,294,904

Included in the consolidated income statement for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are the following
amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Related party  Total category  Related party Total category
transactions as per transactions as per
financial financial
statements statements
caption caption
Interest income 47,385,669 37,369,613
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 1,260,000 1,003,608
- key management personnel of the entity 8,320 43,173
Interest expense (22,280,750) (17,355,773)
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group (4,979,233) (3,178,688)
- key management personnel of the entity (21,407) (9,804)
Fee and commission income 2,934,315 3,095,184
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 35,053 47,736
- key management personnel of the entity 10,905 11,805
Other income 642,551 69,442
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group 40,475 40,475
Operating expense (12,592,313) (9,097,983)
- shareholders and entities in which a substantial
interest is owned by shareholders of the Group (207,455) (150,043)

26. Segment Reporting

The Group’s activity is sufficiently integrated and primarily relates to the banking sector. Accordingly, for purposes
of IAS 14 “Segment reporting” the Group is accounted for as a single segment. The Group'’s assets are located
in the Republic of Azerbaijan and major parts of its revenue and net profit arrives from operations in the Republic
of Azerbaijan. The Group’s operations include transactions with banks, legal entities and individuals. Data on
other transaction balances and their results are provided in the respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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27. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Estimated fair value disclosures of financial instruments are made in accordance with the requirements of IAS
32 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”. Fair value is defined as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in forced or liquidation
sale. The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Group could realize in a
market exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities compared with the corresponding carrying amount in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group is presented below:

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents 126,229,976 126,229,976 18,298,937 18,298,937
Due from banks 3,142,161 3,142,161 3,166,674 3,166,674
Due to banks and government agencies 67,754,113 67,754,113 106,348,730 106,348,730
Customer accounts 472,461,571 472,461,571 304,375,060 304,375,060

The fair value of loans to customers cannot be measured reliably as it is not practicable to obtain market information
or apply any other valuation techniques on such instruments.

The fair value of equity securities included in investments available-for-sale cannot be measured reliably. As at
31 December 2010 and 2009 the cost of them was 1,202,449 and AZN 42,633, respectively. Since these shares
are not publicly traded and the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant, it is not possible to estimate
their fair value.

28. Regulatory Matters

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Group to maintain
minimum amounts and ratios (as set forth in the table below) of total (8%) and tier 1 capital (4%) to risk weighted
assets.

The ratio was calculated according to the principles employed by the Basel Committee by applying the following
risk estimates to the assets and off-balance sheet commitments net of allowances for impairment losses:

Weighting Description of position

0% Cash and cash equivalents

20% Nostro in OECD

100% Nostro in NON-OECD

20% Loans and advances to banks for up to 1 year

100% Loans and advances to customers

100% Other assets

50% Obligations and commitments on unused loans with the initial maturity of over 1 year
100% Guarantees

As at 31 December 2010 the Group’s total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 86,595,917
and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 86,595,917 with ratios of 17% and 17%, respectively.

As at 31 December 2009 the Group’s total capital amount for Capital Adequacy purposes was AZN 75,277,996
and tier 1 capital amount was AZN 75,277,996 with ratios of 16% and 16%, respectively.

In addition, the Group has to maintain a statutory capital adequacy ratio based on the Central Bank of Azerbaijan
Republic requirements. During the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 the Group was in compliance with
the minimum capital requirements imposed by the CBAR.
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29. Capital Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Management Board reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of this review, the Board
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the Board, the Group balances its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The Group’s overall capital risk management policy remains unchanged from 2009.
30. Risk Management Policies

Management of risk is fundamental to the banking business and is an essential element of the Group’s operations.
The main risks inherent to the Group’s operations are those related to credit exposures, liquidity and market
movements in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. A description of the Group’s risk management policies in
relation to those risks follows. The Group manages the following risks:

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge
an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.

Risk management and monitoring is performed within set limits of authority, by the Credit Committees and the
Group’s Management Board. Before any application is made by the Credit Committee, all recommendations
on credit processes (borrower’s limits approved, or amendments made to loan agreements, etc.) are reviewed
and approved by the experts of Credit Department. Daily risk management is performed by the Head of Credit
Departments and Branch Credit Divisions.

The Group structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry (and geographical) segments. Limits on the
level of credit risk by a borrower and a product (by industry sector, by region) are approved monthly (quarterly) by
the Management Board. The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by
sub-limits covering on and off-balance sheet exposures which are set by the Credit Committee. Actual exposures
against limits are monitored daily.

Where appropriate, and in the case of most loans, the Group obtains collateral and corporate and personal
guarantees but a significant portion is personal lending, where no such facilities can be obtained. Such risks are
monitored on a continuous basis and subject to annual or more frequent reviews.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters
of credit. The credit risk on off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as a probability of losses due to
the inability of counterparty to comply with the contractual terms and conditions. With respect to credit risk on
commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a loss in an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likely amount of the loss is less than the total unused commitments since most
commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Group
applies the same credit policy to the contingent liabilities as it does to the balance sheet financial instruments,
i.e. the one based on the procedures for approving the grant of loans, using limits to mitigate the risk, and current
monitoring. The Group monitors the term to maturity of off balance sheet contingencies because longer term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than short-term commitments.
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Bank

Maximum Exposure

The Groups maximum exposure to credit risk varies significantly and is dependant on both individual risks and
general market economy risks. The following table presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of financial
assets and contingent liabilities. For financial assets the maximum exposure equals to a carrying value of those
assets prior to any offset or collateral. For financial guarantees and other contingent liabilities the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Group would have to pay if the guarantee was called on or in

the case of commitments, if the loan amount was called on.

Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments available-for-sale

Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments available-for-sale

Financial assets are graded according to the current credit rating they have been issued by an internationally
regarded agency. The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment grade financial assets have ratings from AAA to

Maximum
exposure

3,142,161
471,456,772
1,202,449

Maximum
exposure

3,166,674
443,197,140
42,633

Net exposure

after offset

3,142,161
471,456,772
1,202,449

Net exposure
after offset

3,166,674
443,197,140
42,633

Collateral
Pledged

31 December 2010

378,062,554

Net exposure after
offset and collateral

3,142,161
93,394,218
1,202,449

31 December 2009

Collateral

Pledged

223,670,179

BBB. Financial assets which have ratings lower than BBB are classed as speculative grade.

The following table details the credit ratings of financial assets held by the Group:

AAA AA
Due from banks - 2,349,
Loans to customers -
Investments available-for-sale -

AAA AA
Due from banks - 2,783

Loans to customers -

Investments available-for-sale -

The banking industry is generally exposed to credit risk through its financial assets and contingent liabilities.
Credit risk exposure of the Group is concentrated within the Republic of Azerbaijan. The exposure is monitored
on a regular basis to ensure that the credit limits and credit worthiness guidelines established by the Group’s risk
management policy are not breached. The Group enters into numerous transactions where the counterparties are

not rated by international rating agencies.

755

,894

BBB <BBB

BBB

<BBB

Not rated

502,136
471,456,772
1,202,449

Not rated

17,717
443,197,140
42,633

Net exposure after
offset and collateral

3,166,674
219,526,961
42,633

31 December 2010

Total

3,142,161
471,456,772
1,202,449

31 December 2009

Total

3,166,674
443,197,140
42,633
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Rating model

The Group has developed internal rating model, which allow it to determine the rating of counterparties. The rating
of corporate borrower is based on an analysis of the financial ratios of the borrower, and an analysis of the market
and industry sector, in which the borrower operates. The model also takes into consideration various qualitative
factors, such as management efficiency and borrower’s market share.

The application of the internal rating model results in a standardized approach in the analysis of corporate
borrowers and provides a quantitative assessment of the creditworthiness of a borrower that does not have a
rating from an international rating agency. The model takes into account specific local market conditions.

The quality of the internal rating model is examined on a regular basis through an assessment of both its
effectiveness and validity. The Group revises the model when deficiencies are identified.

The Group applies internal rating methodologies to specific corporate loans and groups of retail and small business
loans, which incorporate various underlying master scales that are different from that used by international
rating agencies. As a result, it is not possible to make a cross-product score comparison which would agree to
the outstanding balance of loans to customers per the statement of financial position. As such, more detailed
information is not being presented.

The following table details the carrying value of assets that are impaired and the ageing of those that are past due
but not impaired:

Financial assets past due but not impaired

31 December 2010

Neither past 0-3 3-6 6 months Greater Financial Total
due nor months months to lyear thanone  assets that
impaired year have been
impaired
Due from banks 3,142,161 - - - - - 3,142,161
Loans to customers 72,064,455 - - - - 399,392,317 471,456,772
Investments available-for-sale 1,202,449 - - - - - 1,202,449

Financial assets past due but not impaired

31 December 2009

Neither past 0-3 3-6 6 months Greater Financial Total
due nor months months to lyear thanone assets that
impaired year have been
impaired
Due from banks 3,166,674 - - - - - 3,166,674
Loans to customers 95,473,282 - - - - 347,723,858 443,197,140
Investments available-for-sale 42,633 - - - - - 42,633

94



Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Geographical concentration

The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee exercises control over the risk in the legislation and regulatory
arena and assess its influence on the Group’s activity. This approach allows the Group to minimize potential losses
from the investment climate fluctuations in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Group’s Management Board sets up
country limits, which mainly applies to banks of the Commonwealth of Independent States and Baltic countries.

The geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is set out below:

The Republic CIS countries OECD 31 December

of Azerbaijan countries 2010 Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 126,229,976 - - 126,229,976
Gold 8,642,082 - - 8,642,082
Due from banks 664,145 128,261 2,349,755 3,142,161
Loans to customers 471,456,772 - - 471,456,772
Investments available-for-sale 1,200,031 - 2,418 1,202,449
Property and equipment 12,834,687 - - 12,834,687
Investment property 6,132,246 - - 6,132,246
Intangible assets 640,382 - - 640,382
Deferred income tax asset 90,944 - - 90,944
Other assets 1805348 - 6,778 _ 1,812,126
TOTAL ASSETS __ 629,696,613 128,261 2,358,951 _ 632,183,825
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and government agencies 67,745,113 - - 67,745,113
Customer accounts 472,461,571 - - 472,461,571
Current income tax liability 532,996 - - 532,996
Other liabilities __ 4,070,538 173 137,135 4,207,846
TOTAL LIABILITIES __ 544,810,218 173 _ 137,135 __ 544947526

NET POSITION

_ 84886395 __ 128,088 2221816
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The Republic CIS countries OECD 31 December

of Azerbaijan countries 2009 Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 18,298,937 - - 18,298,937
Gold 5,230,000 - - 5,230,000
Due from banks 287,111 95,669 2,783,894 3,166,674
Loans to customers 443 197 140 - - 443,197,140
Investments available for sale 40,000 - 2,633 42,633
Property and equipment 8,663,620 - - 8,663,620
Investment property 5,931,894 - - 5,931,894
Intangible assets 333,823 - - 333,823
Deferred income tax asset 222,790 - - 222,790
Other assets 2,740,010 12,679 2,421 2,755,110
TOTAL ASSETS 484,945,325 108,348 2,788,948 487,842,621
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and government agencies 106,348,730 - - 106,348,730
Customer accounts 304,375,060 - - 304,375,060
Other liabilities 1,459,476 8,229 39,307 _ 1,507,012
TOTAL LIABILITIES __ 412,183,266 8,229 39,307 412,230,802
NET POSITION 72,762,059 100,119 2,749,641

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposit withdrawals and other financial commitments
associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group performs
daily monitoring of expected future cash flows on clients’ and banking operations, which is a part of the assets/
liabilities management process. The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee sets limits on the minimum
proportion of maturing funds available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the minimum level of interbank and
other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

An analysis of the liquidity and interest rate risks is presented in the following table. The tables have been drawn
up to detail:

(i) The remaining contractual maturity of non-derivative financial liabilities based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities (both interest and principal cash flows) based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay, and

(i) The expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of
the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group anticipates that
the cash flow will occur in a different period.
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ASSETS
Due from banks
Loans to customers

Investments available-for-
sale

Total interest bearing
assets at fixed rates

Total interest bearing
assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers

Investments available-for-
sale

Other assets

LIABILITIES

Due to banks and
government agencies

Customer accounts

Total interest bearing
liabilities at fixed rates

Total interest bearing
liabilities

Due to banks and
government agencies

Customer accounts

Other liabilities

Guarantees issued and
similar commitments

Commitments on credits
and unused credit lines

Liquidity gap

Interest sensitivity gap
for fixed rate instruments

Interest sensitivity gap

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate

8,00%
11,43%
3,25%

2.00%
7,99%

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap

Uptol 1 month to 3 month to lyearto5 Over 5 Maturity Total
month 3 months 1year years years undefined 31 December
2010
353,960 1,349,823 - - - - 1,703,783
798,254 81,302,031 90,252,656 261,478,089 17,197,595 17,175,713 468,204,338
- - - 1,025,031 - - 1,025,031
1,152,214 82,651,854 90,252,656 262,503,120 17,197,595 17,175,713 470,933,152
1,152,214 82,651,854 90,252,656 262,503,120 17,197,595 17,175,713 470,933,152
124,545,621 - - - - 1,684,355 126,229,976
8,642,082 - - - - - 8,642,082
1,296,075 - - - - 142,303 1,438,378
3,178,627 - - - - 73,807 3,252,434
- - - - - 177,418 177,418
613,599 - - - 613,599
139,428,218 82,651,854 90,252,656 262,503,120 17,197,595 19,253,596 611,287,039
200,000 91,534 1,815,887 46,686,878 12,462,559 - 61,256,858
15,037,002 126,856,831 88,300,486 80,401,652 - - 310,595,971
15,237,002 126,948,365 90,116,373 127,088,530 12,462,559 - 371,852,829
15,237,002 126,948,365 90,116,373 127,088,530 12,462,559 - 371,852,829
6,488,255 - - - - - 6,488,255
161,865,600 - - - - - 161,865,600
- 532,996 - - - - 532,996
1,497,267 271,687 296 799 - - 85,000 2,150,753
1,220, 000 852,600 4,769,160 540,818 - - 7,382,578
8,885,355 - 2,421,779 8,841,652 - - 20,148,786
195,193,479 128,605,648 97,604,111 136,471,000 12,462,559 85.000 570,421,797
(55,765,261) (45,953,794) (7,351,455) 126,032,120 4,735,036
(14,084,788)  (44,296,511) 136,283 135,414,590 4,735,036
(14,084,788)  (44,296,511) 136,283 135,414,590 4,735,036
(14,084,788) (58.381,299) (58,245,016) 77,169,574 81,904,610
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Weighted
average
effective Total
interest Upto1l 1 month to 3 month to 1yearto5 Over 5 Maturity 31 December
rate month 3 months 1year years years undefined 2009
ASSETS
Loans to customers 10,74% __ 95,183,000 15,572,634 47,114,024 263,385639 16335901 3,783,983 441,376,171
Total interest bearing
assets at fixed rates 95,183,090 15,572,634 47,114,924 263,385,639 16,335,901 3,783,983 441,376,171
Total interest bearing
assets 95,183,090 15,572,634 47,114,924 263,385,639 16,335,901 3,783,983 441,376,171
Cash and cash equivalents 16,978,793 - - - - 1,320,144 18,298,937
Gold 5,230,000 - - - - - 5,230,000
Due from banks 3,125,716 - - - - 40,958 3,166,674
Loans to customers 1,765,346 - - - - 55,623 1,820,969
Investments available for
sale - - - - - 42,633 42,633
Other assets 435,421 - - R 435 421
_ 122,718,366 15572634  47,114924 263,385,639 16335901 5243341 470,370,805
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and
government agencies 1,93% 1,959,377 70,000,000 1,900,000 19,915,000 10,526,622 - 104,300,999
Customer accounts 7,07% 14,986,985 18,589,580 46,536,438 164,217,054 - - 244,330,057
Total interest bearing
liabilities at fixed rates 16,946,362 88,589,580 48,436,438 184,132,054 10,526,622 - 348,631,056
Total interest bearing
liabilities 16,946,362 88,589,580 48,436,438 184,132,054 10,526,622 - 348,631,056
Due to banks and
government agencies 2,047,731 - - - - - 2,047,731
Customer accounts 59,845,003 - - - - 200,000 60,045,003
Other liabilities 759,919 86,298 25,632 272,937 - 362,226 1,507,012
Guarantees issued and
similar commitments 2,811,000 1,557,200 6,164,645 622,998 - 300,000 11,455,843
Commitments on credits
and unused credit lines 3,371,301 680 3,413,427 9,604,890 - - 16,390,298
85,781,316 90,233,758 58,040,142 194,632,879 10,526,622 862,226 440,076,943
Liquidity gap 36,937,050 (74,661,124)  (10,925,218) 68,752,760 5,809,279
Interest sensitivity
gap for fixed rate instruments 78,236,728  (73.016,946) (1,321,514) 79,253,585 5,809,279
Interest sensitivity gap 78,236,728  (73,016,946) (1,321.514) 79,253,585 5,809,279

Cumulative interest sensitivity gap __ 78236728 @ 5219782 @ 3,898268 83,151,853 88,061,132
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Market Risk

Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency risk and other pricing risks to which the Group is exposed. There
have been no changes as to the way the Group measures risk or to the risk it is exposed in 2010.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risks as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating rates.
The risk is managed by the Group maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings.
The ALMC also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Group’s interest rate position, which
provides the Group with a positive interest margin. The Department of Financial Control conducts monitoring of
the Group’s current financial performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates and its
influence on the Group’s profitability.

The majority of the Group’s loan contracts and other financial assets and liabilities that bear interest are either
variable or contain clauses enabling the interest rate to be changed at the option of the lender. The Group
monitors its interest rate margin and consequently does not consider itself exposed to significant interest rate risk
or consequential cash flow risk.

Interest rate risk

The Group manages fair value interest rate risk through periodic estimation of potential losses that could arise
from adverse changes in market conditions. The Department of Financial Control conducts monitoring of the
Group’s current financial performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to changes in fair value interest rates and
its influence on the Group’s profitability.

The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined based on
“reasonably possible changes in the risk variable”. The level of these changes is determined by management and
is contained within the risk reports provided to key management personnel.

Impact on profit before tax:

As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate
+1% -1% +1% -1%
Assets:
Due from banks 17,038 (17,038) - -
Loans to customers 4,682,043 (4,682,043) 4,413,762 (4,413,762)
Investments available-for-sale 10,250 (10,250) - -
Liabilities:
Due to banks and government agencies (612,569) 612,569 (1,043,010) 1,043,010
Customer accounts __ (3,105960) 3105960  ___ (2,443.301) 2,443,301
Net impact on profit before tax 990,802  __ (990,802) 927,451 (927,451)
Impact on shareholders equity:
As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate Interest rate
+1% -1% +1% -1%
Assets:
Due from banks 17,038 (17,038) - -
Loans to customers 4,682,043 (4,682,043) 4,413,762 (4,413,762)
Investments available-for-sale 10,250 (10,250) - -
Liabilities:
Due to banks and government agencies (612,569) 612,569 (1,043,010) 1,043,010
Customer accounts __ (3105960) ____ 3,105,960 (2,443,301) 2,443,301
Net impact on profit before tax 990,802  __ (990,802) 927,451 (927.451)

99



XALQ BANK
B [LLIK HESABAT 2010 / ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Open Joint Stock Company Xalq Bank

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 (Continued) (in Azerbaijan Manats)

Currency risk

Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange
rates on its financial position and cash flows.

The Management Board sets limits on the level of exposure by currencies. These limits also comply with the
minimum requirements of the CBAR. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is presented

in the table below:

Other 31 December
AZN usb EUR currency 2010 Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 120,514,883 4,117,000 1,598,093 - 126,229,976
Gold 8,642,082 - - - 8,642,082
Due from banks 500,389 1,943,387 690,972 7,413 3,142,161
Loans to customers 278,851,564 192,338,236 266,972 - 471,456,772
Investments available-for-sale 1,200,031 - 2,418 - 1,202,449
Property and equipment 12,834,687 - - - 12,834,687
Investment property 6,132,246 - - - 6,132,246
Intangible assets 640,382 - - - 640,382
Deferred income tax asset 90,944 - - - 90,944
Other assets 1675535 134,420 2,171 - 1812126
TOTAL ASSETS 431,082,743 198,533,043 2.560,626 7.413 632,183,825
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and government
agencies 63,738,154 4,004,187 2,772 - 67,745,113
Customer accounts 268,281,588 195,114,026 9,064,768 1,189 472,461,571
Current income tax liabilities 532,996 - - - 532,996
Other liabilities 3813301 273947  ___ 120,538 60 4,207,846
TOTAL LIABILITIES ___ 336,366,039  __199,392.160 9,188,078 1,249 544,947,526
OPEN CURRENCY POSITION 94,716,704 (859,117) (6,627.452) 6,164
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Gold

Due from banks

Loans to customers
Investments available-for-sale

Property and equipment
Investment property
Intangible assets

Deferred income tax asset
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES

Due to banks and government
agencies

Customer accounts
Other liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

OPEN CURRENCY POSITION

Currency risk sensitivity

AZN USsD EUR Other
currency
12,580,338 4,056,924 1,661,675 -
5,230,000 ; - ;
- 2,796,705 268,524 101,445
280,052,488 160,885,255 318,670 1,940,727
40,000 - 2,633 ;
8,663,620 - - ;
5,931,894 ) . .
333,823 - - ;
222,790 - - ;
2.708.761 43.757 2592 :
_ 315,763,714  _ 167,782,641  __ 2,254,094  _ 2,042,172
102,380,991 2,025,697 750 1,941,292
131,816,674 166,733,361 5,725,697 99,328
1287454 208411 10,479 668
_ 235485119  _ 168967469  __ 5736926  _2.041,288

31 December
2009 Total

18,298,937
5,230,000
3,166,674

443,197,140
42,633

8,663,620

5,931,894

333,823

222,790
2,755,110

__487.842,621

106,348,730
304,375,060
1,507,012

412,230,802

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the USD and Euro against the AZN.
10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign currency exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the period for a 10%
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within
the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.

Impact on profit or loss

Impact on profit or loss

As at 31 December 2010

AZN / USD AZN / USD AZN / USD
+10% -10% +10%
85,912 (85,912) 118,483

As at 31 December 2009

AZN / EURO AZN / EURO AZN / EURO
+10% -10% +10%
662,745 (662,745) 348,283

As at 31 December 2009

AZN / USD
-10%

(118,483)

As at 31 December 2008

AZN /| EURO
-10%

(348,283)
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Limitations of sensitivity analysis

The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption while other assumptions remain
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted
that these sensitivities are non-linear, and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated
from these results.

The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are actively managed.
Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary at the time that any actual market movement occurs. For
example, the Group’s financial risk management strategy aims to manage the exposure to market fluctuations.
As investment markets move past various trigger levels, management actions could include selling investments,
changing investment portfolio allocation and taking other protective action. Consequently, the actual impact of a
change in the assumptions may not have any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets are held at market value
on the consolidated statement of financial position. In these circumstances, the different measurement bases for
liabilities and assets may lead to volatility in shareholder equity.

Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to demonstrate

potential risk that only represent the Group’s view of possible near-term market changes that cannot be predicted
with any certainty; and the assumption that all interest rates move in an identical fashion.
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